Maternal Immunoglobulin A Shapes the Early Neonatal Microbiota and Protects Against

the Development of Necrotizing Enterocolitis in Preterm Infants

by

Kathyayini Parlakoti Gopalakrishna

MBBS, Rajiv Gandhi University of Health Sciences, India, 2012

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the

Department of Human Genetics

Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2019

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

This dissertation was presented

by

Kathyayini Parlakoti Gopalakrishna

It was defended on

December 6, 2019

and approved by

David N. Finegold, MD, Professor, Department of Human Genetics, Director, Multidisciplinary Master of Public Health Program, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Michael J. Morowitz, MD, FACS, Associate Professor of Surgery, School of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Attending Pediatric Surgeon, Division of Pediatric General and Thoracic Surgery, UPMC Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh

F. Yesim Demirci, MD, Associate Professor, Department of Human Genetics, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Dissertation Director: Timothy W. Hand, PhD, Assistant Professor of Pediatrics and Immunology, University of Pittsburgh, Mellon Institute of Pediatric Research, UPMC Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh Copyright © by Kathyayini Parlakoti Gopalakrishna

2019

Maternal Immunoglobulin A Shapes the Early Neonatal Microbiota and Protects Against the Development of Necrotizing Enterocolitis in Preterm Infants

Kathyayini Parlakoti Gopalakrishna, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2019

Abstract

Neonates are protected from colonizing bacteria by antibodies secreted into maternal milk. Immunoglobulin A (IgA) plays a crucial role in maintaining the homeostasis between the microbiota and intestinal epithelium. The effect of maternal IgA is potentially critical because improper handling of colonizing organisms can lead to serious complications such as sepsis, pneumonia and Necrotizing Enterocolitis (NEC). NEC is a disease of neonatal preterm infants with high morbidity and mortality that is associated with intestinal inflammation driven by the microbiota. The incidence of NEC is significantly lower in infants fed with maternal milk, though the mechanisms underlying this benefit are not clear. Here, we show that maternal IgA is an important factor in the protection against NEC.

Analysis of IgA-binding of fecal bacteria from preterm infants indicated that maternal milk was the predominant source of IgA in the first month of life and that a relative decrease in IgAbound bacteria is associated with the development of NEC. We observed heterogeneity in the IgA repertoire of the breast milk of different mothers. Sequencing of IgA-bound and unbound bacteria revealed that, prior to disease onset, NEC was associated with an increasing domination of the IgA-unbound microbiota by *Enterobacteriaceae*. Further, we confirmed that IgA is critical for shaping early neonatal colonization in a murine model, where pups reared by IgA deficient mothers have increased *Enterobacteriaceae* in their fecal matter and developed disease similar to formula-fed pups. Our findings show that maternal IgA shapes the host-microbiota relationship of preterm neonates and that IgA is a critical and necessary factor in maternal milk for the prevention of NEC. The public health significance of this study is to emphasize the benefits of feeding neonates with maternal milk as it reveals the successful association of maternal milk IgA binding to *Enterobacteriaceae* to a reduced incidence of NEC. In addition, this study describes the invention of a novel diagnostic test to examine the heterogeneity in the maternal milk IgA repertoire between different donors and timepoints. This test can be used to identify donor breast milk with high IgA binding to *Enterobacteriaceae*, which could be used prophylactically in preterm infants who are at risk for the development of NEC.

Table of Contents

Prefacexii
Abbreviations xv
1.0 Introduction1
1.1 Breast Milk Shapes the Intestinal Microbiota in Early Life
1.1.1 Breast milk1
1.1.2 Components of the breast milk 2
1.2 Intestinal Microbiota from Birth to Adult Life6
1.2.1 Human Milk Oligosaccharides7
1.2.2 Lactoferrin
1.2.3 Secretory Immunoglobulin A9
2.0 Maternal Immunoglobulin A Protects Against the Development of Necrotizing
Enterocolitis
2.1 Foreword 13
2.2 Necrotizing Enterocolitis13
2.2.1 Incidence and Pathophysiology13
2.2.2 Disease Manifestations, Diagnosis and Treatment14
2.2.3 Maternal milk feeding is associated with decreased risk of NEC 15
2.3 Methods 17
2.3.1 Experimental Model and Subject Details17
2.3.2 Method Details18
2.3.3 Quantification and Statistical Analysis

2.3.4 Data and Software Availability25
2.4 Results
2.4.1 IgA binding to the intestinal bacteria of preterm infants is positively
correlated to breastfeeding and negatively correlated to the development of NEC
2.4.2 The IgA unbound fraction of the microbiota lacks diversity and become
dominated by <i>Enterobacteriaceae</i> prior the development of NEC
2.4.3 IgA is a necessary component of breast milk for the prevention of the
development of experimental NEC47
2.5 Discussion
3.0 Maternal Immunoglobulin A Repertoire Varies Between Mothers
3.1 Foreword 58
3.2 Introduction
3.3 Methods 59
3.3.1 Experimental Model and Subject Details
3.3.2 Method Details
3.3.3 Quantification and Statistical Analysis
3.4 Results
3.4.1 Difference in the repertoire of IgA binding to a single bacterium in differen
donor breast milk samples62
3.4.2 Variation in the repertoire of IgA binding to bacterial array in differen
donor breast milk samples 64
3.5 Discussion

Bibliography	7 7	/0
--------------	-----	----

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Macronutrient Composition of Term and Preterm Breast Milk	2
Table 1.2 Proteins present in the Breast Milk	
Table 1.3 Bioactive factors in the Breast Milk	5
Table 2.1 Post-diagnosis preterm NEC/Control Cohort	
Table 2.2 Prospective/longitudinal preterm NEC/Control cohort	29
Table 3.1 List of donor breast milk samples collected from the Mid-Atlantic Bro	east Milk
Bank	62
Table 3.2 List of bacteria identified from preterm neonates	64

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Structure of Secretory IgA (sIgA) 10
Figure 2.1 Paradigm explaining the pathophysiology of NEC 14
Figure 2.2 Hypothesis
Figure 2.3 IgA binding to the intestinal bacteria of preterm infants is positively correlated to
feeding with maternal milk and negatively correlated to the development of NEC 28
Figure 2.4 Fraction of intestinal bacteria bound by IgA in preterm infants
Figure 2.5 Maternal milk-derived antibodies binding to intestinal bacteria from preterm
infants
Figure 2.6 <i>Enterobacteriaceae</i> is the most abundant family in preterm infants
Figure 2.7 Decrease in IgA binding in NEC patients is related to the increase in
Enterobacteriaceae
Figure 2.8 Deconvolution method to decrease the effect of contamination in IgSeq
Figure 2.9 Decrease in diversity is observed prior to the incidence of NEC
Figure 2.10 Infants who develop NEC have increased <i>Enterobacteriaceae</i>
Figure 2.11 Longitudinal analysis of the intestinal microbiota of preterm infants 40
Figure 2.12 Increase in the proportion of IgA negative fraction of total bacterial and
Enterobacteriaceae counts precceding NEC 42
Figure 2.13 Ratio of IgA- to IgA+ reads for low abundance taxa
Figure 2.14 Absolute number of bacteria and number of bacteria associated with the
dominant taxa in preterm infants 46
Figure 2.15 Breeding scheme for murine model of experimental NEC

Figure 2.16 Percent of intestinal bacteria bound by different Ig classes in wild type pups with
dams of various genotypes 48
Figure 2.17 Pups fed by mothers deficient in antibodies in breast milk had disease severity
similar to formula fed pups
Figure 2.18 Analysis of the intestinal microbiota from fecal samples of pups from Figure 2.13
Figure 2.19 Beta diversity between different groups of mice undergoing the NEC protocol
shown through Principal coordinate analysis (biomial, weighted)
Figure 2.20 Enterobacter spp. is enriched in the IgA+ fraction of fecal matter of the pups
breast-fed by C57BL/6 mice53
Figure 2.21 Schematic representation depicting the role of maternal IgA in the prevention of
Necrotizing Enterocolitis
Figure 3.1 Schematic representation of the experimental procedure
Figure 3.2 Histogram depicting the differences in IgA binding to Enterococcus faecalis from
four different donor breast milk 64
Figure 3.3 Variation in the repertoire of IgA binding to bacterial array in different donor
breast milk samples

Preface

My journey through the past 4 years of PhD has been intriguing and fun-filled, but there were challenging times as well. Before I begin my dissertation, I want to formally acknowledge all the people who have believed in me, helped me grow and kept me sane throughout. Words may fall short to describe the immense gratitude I have for all these people in my heart.

The most important person I want to thank is my mentor, Dr. Timothy Hand. I feel that every student is like a raw stone and it takes great skill, patience and persistence to turn the stone to a sculpture. The excellent guidance, scientific brilliance and knowledge, combined with overall support provided by Dr. Hand, has helped me evolve from a physician to a physician-scientist. Our weekly in-depth meetings have helped me develop a passion for science, motivated me to learn from my mistakes and offer my full effort to every experiment. The times when our ideas would overlap are the moments that I considered as a 'win'. He has been a great role model for me in the field of Immunology and I feel grateful to have been guided by him.

As the famous proverb goes, it takes a village to raise a child. The members of the Hand laboratory have been my support system through the years. I would like to thank Justin Tometich, for being so kind and always helpful to me, by answering all of my questions and being my go-to person. I am grateful to Justin for withstanding all my craziness, for being an amazing friend and making experiments fun. I want to thank Dr. Amrita Bhattacharjee, Dr. Patricia Castillo, Dr. Abby Overacre-Delgoffe and Ansen Burr for being brilliant scientists, amazing friends and helping me navigate through my PhD and life in general. I also want to thank Dr. Benjamin Macadangdang, Dr. Lauren Mullinax, Dr. Kara Coffey and Dr. Chelseá Johnson for providing me insights about clinics and keeping the physician in me alive through my graduate school years. I am also grateful to all other past and present members of the Hand lab for making my lab experience enjoyable. The lab environment has been crucial for my development as a scientist and maintaining my sanity especially while feeding mice, making it a joy to work.

I also want to thank the members of my thesis committee: Dr. David Finegold, Dr. Michael Morowitz and Dr. Yesim Demirci. Their insightful thoughts and mentorship have immensely helped in the progress of the project and shaped my dissertation. A big thank you to Dr. Michael Morowitz for not only being a guiding light but also an amazing collaborator in this project, as well as all the members of the Morowitz lab, especially Brian Firek, Dr. Matthew Rogers and Alexandra Sheppeck for their help in sample collection and analysis, technical education and scientific insights on the project. My heartfelt gratitude to all the neighboring labs in Rangos: especially the Canna and Poholek labs who maintained an inspirational, collaborative and educational lab environment. I would also like to thank the Graduate School of Public Health and the Department of Human Genetics for providing me an opportunity to pursue my PhD, especially Dr. Candace Kammerer, for being my academic advisor and mentor for the past 4 years.

There are no words to describe the immense gratitude I feel for the constant love, support and encouragement of my parents, Gopalakrishna Parlakoti and Vijaya Muddaje. I would not be here without all their prayers, sacrifices and video calls that have helped me feel closer to them. I want to acknowledge my family members- Mukunda Parlakoti and Preethi Chondira for all their love, care and encouragement. It is a blessing to have in-laws who stand by you in difficult times and support all the things you want to do. I want to express my gratitude to the other half of my family- Dr. Shridhar Hanumaiah, Kalpana H.C, Avinash Sridhar, Rajeshwari Kesavan, Adhvick Avinash and Aadhya Avinash, for being an excellent support system anyone could have asked for. I also want to thank Curtis Tilves for being my friend from day one of graduate school, welcoming us and providing us a family in Pittsburgh. Lastly but definitely not the least, I want to express gratitude to my husband Dr. Puneeth Shridhar, for being my constant since the first year of medical school all the way through to the end of my graduate school. In the midst of all the uncertainty, he has been a continuous source of love, laughter and adventure. His perseverance and passion have made me more patient and understanding, which has improved my overall view towards life.

Abbreviations

- 16S rRNA = 16S ribosomal RNA
- ATCC = American Type Culture Collection
- CCL28 = C-C motif Chemokine Ligand 28
- CFU = Colony Forming Unit
- DOL = Day of Life
- EGF = Epidermal growth factor
- G-CSF = Granulocyte colony stimulating factor
- g/dL = grams/deciliter
- HB-EGF = Heparin Binding EGF like growth factor
- HMOs = Human Milk Oligosaccharides
- IFN- γ = Interferon-gamma
- IgA = Immunoglobulin A
- IgA = IgA unbound
- IgA + = IgA bound
- IGF = Insulin-like growth factor
- IgG = Immunoglobulin G
- Igha^{-/-} = Immunoglobulin heavy constant alpha knockout
- IgM = Immunoglobulin M
- J-chain = Joining chain
- Jh^{-/-} = Jh knockout
- kcal/dL = kilo calories/deciliter

- LDA = Linear Discriminant Analysis
- LPS = Lipopolysaccharide
- M-cells = Microfold cells
- MACS = Magnetic activated cell sorting
- MFG-E8 = Milk Fat Globule EGF Factor 8
- MIF = Macrophage Migratory inhibitory factor
- MUC1 = Mucin 1
- MUC4 = Mucin 4
- NEC = Necrotizing Enterocolitis
- NGF = Nerve growth factor
- OD = Optical Density
- OUT = Operational Taxonomic Unit
- PBS = Phosphate Buffered Saline
- PCR = Polymerase Chain Reaction
- pIgR = Polymeric Ig Receptor
- $Rag1^{-/-} = Recombination$ activating gene 1 knockout
- sIgA = Secretory Immunoglobulin A
- TGF = Transforming growth factor
- $TGF-\beta = Transforming growth factor-beta$
- TLR4 = Toll like receptor 4
- TNF- α = Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
- VEGF = Vascular Endothelial growth factor

1.0 Introduction

One of the underlying drivers of this work was the idea that there is an immunological benefit provided by the mother's breast milk immunoglobulin A (IgA). Our goal is to understand how IgA can influence the intestinal microbiota in neonates and how this impacts health and diseases such as Necrotizing Enterocolitis (NEC). This is an understudied, but critical avenue by which to advance science. As such, the research topics detailed within this dissertation investigate the relationship of maternal milk IgA to the development of NEC in preterm infants. This focus stemmed from the rapidly growing body of literature describing how the intestinal microbiome is influenced by different components of the breast milk and how it plays a role in the prevention of NEC. In addition, ongoing research shows that the IgA produced in the body in adults can help maintain their intestinal microbial homeostasis through various mechanisms. The synthesis of these findings led to the overarching hypothesis of this thesis - maternal IgA binding of invasive intestinal bacteria is protective against the development of NEC.

1.1 Breast Milk Shapes the Intestinal Microbiota in Early Life

1.1.1 Breast milk

Breast milk is the main source of nutrition for newborn infants until approximately 6 months to 1 year of age. The American Academy of Pediatrics recommends exclusive breastfeeding to infants, as it provides all the nutrients required for the growth of the infant for the

first 4 to 6 months of life and breastfeeding with food supplementation up to 1-2 years of age^{1,2}. Studies have observed that breast milk changes in nutrition and quantity over a period of time, different gestational period, diet of the mother and environmental factors³. The breast milk in the first few days of life is called the colostrum and it contains various proteins that provide protection for the neonates. Colostrum is rich in antibodies, antimicrobials and anti-allergens, thus protecting the neonate from several enteric and allergic diseases later in life⁴. The mature milk, produced after the first week, mainly helps in the growth and development of the infant as it is rich in fats, carbohydrates and proteins. Breast milk also contains enzymes, cytokines, growth factors and hormones, which provide protection against various diseases and promote growth of the infant⁵.

1.1.2 Components of the breast milk

The nutritional components of breast milk can be categorized into macronutrients (**Table 1.1**) and micronutrients.

Macronutrients	Term milk	Preterm milk
Protein (g/dL)	0.9	1.9-2.2
Fat (g/dL)	3.5	4.4-4.8
Carbohydrates (mainly lactose) (g/dL)	6.7	7.5
Energy (kcal/dL)	65 to 70	78

Table 1.1 Macronutrient Composition of Term and Preterm Breast Milk

Table adapted from previous breast milk studies^{3,5} depicting the difference in macronutrient concentration in term and preterm milk.

Maternal milk proteins can be classified into two main groups: antimicrobial or immunestimulatory and nutritional as listed in **Table 1.2**. The anti-microbial group of proteins inhibit the growth of pathogenic bacteria, thus preventing infections in the early life. The proteins in the nutritional group assist in the absorption of vitamins and micronutrients in the intestine of the $neonate^{6}$.

Anti-microbial proteins	Nutritional proteins	
Lactoferrin	Bile-salt stimulated lipase	
Secretory IgA, IgM, IgG	Haptocorrin	
Kappa-casein	Folate binding protein	
Lactoperoxidase	Alpha-lactalbumin	
Haptocorrin	Lactoferrin	
Lactadherin		

Table 1.2 Proteins present in the Breast Milk

Table created from studies⁶ showing the different types of proteins in the breast milk.

The concentration of proteins is higher in the colostrum of both term and preterm milk, whereas fats and carbohydrates are at lower concentrations. The protein concentration in the colostrum of preterm milk is significantly higher than in term milk and it gradually decreases over a period of 4 weeks irrespective of the gestational age during birth (**Table 1.1**). In the days following, the concentration of the fat, carbohydrate and energy in the breast milk increases drastically and the concentration of the proteins gradually decreases⁷.

The fat concentration in the human milk is highly variable and mainly consists of high concentrations of oleic and palmitic acids in the triglycerides. During each feeding, the initial milk or foremilk, contains large amounts of water and carbohydrates, whereas the milk that comes later, called the hind milk, is rich in lipids and proteins⁸. The concentration of the lipids is influenced by

the diet, especially the fat and protein intake of the mother, thus explaining the variation in lipid concentration of the milk^{3,9}.

Lactose is the main source of carbohydrates in the breast milk. Variation of lactose is the least among all the macronutrients. However, another major form of carbohydrates are the oligosaccharides, which are secreted in the human milk⁵. Though non-nutritive to the infant, human milk oligosaccharides are said to protect the infants from enteric diseases and help form the initial microbiome in the neonatal gut^{10,11}.

The micronutrients in the breast milk consist of vitamins A, B1, B2, B6, B12 and D. It also consists of non-protein, nitrogen-containing compounds and minerals such as sodium, potassium, magnesium and zinc⁵. The concentrations of these micronutrients vary significantly with the diet of and availability of these components in the mother.

The components of the breast milk that are non-nutritional but have a significant role in biological processes such as preventing infections, development of the mucosal surfaces and overall protection of a neonate, are the bioactive factors. Bioactive factors primarily consist of anti-microbials, growth factors and white blood cells which are produced by the mother and transferred to the neonate through the breast milk. Their source can vary between the maternal mammary gland epithelium to the maternal serum. The bioactive factors are listed in **Table 1.3**.

Cells	Macrophages, Stem cells
Anti-microbials	Immunoglobulins- Secretory IgA, IgM, IgG
	Lactoferrin, Lactadherin/MFG E8, Lysozyme, Complement C3,
	Antiviral mucins- MUC1, MUC4
Growth Factors	Epidermal growth factor (EGF), Nerve growth factor (NGF),
	Insulin-like growth factor (IGF), Transforming growth factor
	(TGF), taurine, polyamines, Heparin Binding EGF like growth
	factor (HB-EGF), Vascular Endothelial growth factor (VEGF),
	Erythropoietin
Cytokines, Chemokines	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α), Interferon-gamma (IFN-
and Anti-inflammatory	γ), Transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β), prostaglandins,
factors	α_1 -antichymotrypsin, α_1 -antitrypsin, platelet-activating factor:
	acetyl hydrolase
	Interleukins- IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-10
	Chemokines- Granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF),
	Macrophage Migratory inhibitory factor (MIF)
Hormones	Calcitonin, Somatostatin, Adiponectin, Leptin, Ghrelin
Digestive enzymes	Amylase, Bile acid-stimulating esterase, Bile acid-stimulating
	lipases, Lipoprotein lipase
Transporters	Lactoferrin, Folate binder, Cobalamin binder, IGF binder,
	Thyroxine binder, Corticosteroid binder
Oligosaccharides and	Human Milk Oligosaccharides (HMOs), Gangliosides,
Glycans	Glycosaminoglycans

Table 1.3 Bioactive factors in the Breast Milk

Adapted from previous studies explaining the importance of bioactive factors^{5,12}

1.2 Intestinal Microbiota from Birth to Adult Life

The intestinal microbiome is comprised of various bacteria, viruses and fungi that are residing in the intestine and help in the absorption of complex carbohydrates. The intestinal microbiome has about 10 times more cells than the human body, whereas microbial genes form about 99% of the total genes¹³. The microbiota provides us with the genetic material necessary to digest complex carbohydrates and lipids. The intestinal microbiota develops from being sterile during birth to a complex set of obligate and facultative organisms during adult life¹⁴. This evolution is brought about by various factors such as prenatal exposure to antibiotics or toxins, mode of delivery, antibiotic exposure after birth, diet (breast feeding versus formula feeding), genetic factors, introduction of solid food and environmental factors such as geography or climate¹⁴.

Recent studies have identified differences in the microbial composition in infants that were delivered vaginally and by caesarean section¹⁵. They identified infants that had antibiotic exposure during birth or soon after delivery and noticed an increase in facultative anaerobes such as *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Enterococcaceae* in their microbiota. Whereas, infants born vaginally and without antibiotic exposure had an increased abundance of obligate anaerobes such as *Bacteroides* in their intestine. Similarly, literature studying the diet of the infant, whether the infant was fed breast milk or formula, have illustrated the difference in the microbial composition. The infants that were breastfed had an increased abundance of *Bifidobacterium* in their microbiota, as compared to formula fed infants who had an increased abundance of *Proteobacteria* and *Firmicutes*¹⁶⁻¹⁹.

The newborn infant is born sterile and soon after birth, the intestine is oxygenated. This leads to growth of facultative anaerobes such as *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Enterococcaceae*. Within

the first few weeks after birth, these organisms utilize the available oxygen, thus creating an anaerobic environment for the growth of anaerobes such as *Bacteroides*¹⁴. However, it takes about 3 years of age for a child to develop and maintain a microbial composition similar to adults¹⁴. One of the major factors that play a role in the evolution of the microbiome is the feeding of the neonate. Infants fed with breast milk of the mother have shown increased abundance of *Bifidobacterium* and *Bacteroides*. The bioactive factors, mainly the human milk oligosaccharides, lactoferrin and immunoglobulins present in the breast milk are crucial for the development of the healthy intestinal microbiome in infants. These factors help in the development of the intestinal epithelium and limit the growth of the intestinal microbiota.

1.2.1 Human Milk Oligosaccharides

Human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) are a group of glycans with a lactose backbone at the reducing end, with a monosaccharide core, which is mostly glucose, galactose, fucose, Nacetylglucosamine, N-acetylneuraminic acid or sialic acid, with chain length varying from 3 to 15 carbohydrates present at the non-reducing end^{20,21}. The lactose backbone of the HMOs in the breast milk can be fucosylated, glycosylated or sialylated, thus forming different structural isomers²¹. There is a high number of HMOs in the breast milk, among which about 200 have been identified through mass-spectrometry²¹.

Glycosylated or fucosylated HMOs have similar structure to glycoproteins and glycolipids found in the epithelial cell wall as the glycosylated moieties are similar to those found in the epithelium²². Before the structural assembly of HMOs, they were thought to be glycoproteins or glycolipids secreted from the mammary epithelium²⁰. These glycosylated motifs of the HMOs are similar to cell surface receptors and thus interfere with the binding of bacteria to the epithelial surface²³. Studies have shown that the presence of HMO's inhibit the growth of pathogenic bacteria like *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Campylobacter jejuni*, by interfering with the adhesion of the bacteria to epithelial cells, both in vitro and in vivo²³⁻²⁵. HMOs have been demonstrated to bind to the stable toxin of *Escherichia coli* and inhibit their growth in mice fed with human milk²⁶. Previous studies have demonstrated the role of glycosylated HMOs in the prevention of diseases such as Necrotizing Enterocolitis (NEC) and rotavirus infection in experimental murine models^{11,27,28}.

HMOs are present in large amounts in the breast milk, about 1g/dL⁵. They are not broken down by the digestive enzymes of the infant and thus can reach to the distal ileum and colon²⁹. Organisms such as *Bifidobacterium* and *Bacteroides*, metabolize these HMOs and utilize it as their energy source. Since the only source of HMOs is the breast milk of the mother, studies have shown that infants who are fed with mother's milk have increased abundance of obligate anaerobes such as *Bifidobacterium* and *Bacteroides* in the first few weeks of life as compared to formula-fed infants^{30,31}. HMOs are variable in each mother depending on the genetic composition, diet, body weight of the mother during pregnancy and stages of lactation³²⁻³⁵. Difference in the concentration of HMOs has been observed in mother's with preterm infant and term infant^{36,37}. This variation in the HMOs has been proposed to cause the difference in the protective effects of breast milk.

1.2.2 Lactoferrin

Lactoferrin, referred to as the "red protein from milk", is an iron binding protein, known for its bacteriostatic properties³⁸. It is said to be produced from the glandular epithelial cells of mammals and secreted in granules of neutrophils³⁹. It is a member of the transferrin family of proteins and is secreted in the breast milk³⁹. Colostrum contains a high concentration of lactoferrin

and it slowly decreases in the first month of lactation⁴⁰. The amount of lactoferrin in the breast milk varies with maternal age, diet, gestational age at birth, ethnicity and stage of lactation⁴¹.

The iron binding ability of lactoferrin led to the discovery of its anti- microbial and immunomodulatory functions⁴². It was believed that lactoferrin sequesters iron by binding to it with high affinity, thus making it unavailable to bacteria in the gut, which require iron as an essential component for its growth⁴³. This bactericidal action was demonstrated in various bacteria such as *Streptococcus* and *Vibrio* in-vitro, but was not seen in *Escherichia coli*⁴³. However, an iron-independent mechanism in which lactoferrin interacts with the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) of Gram- negative organisms and inhibits its growth, was demonstrated in further studies⁴⁴. Through its immunomodulatory capacity, lactoferrin enhances phagocytosis of Gram-positive bacteria, by macrophage activation⁴². It prevents the formation of biofilms in the intestinal tract and the interaction of microbes with the host epithelial cells^{42,45}. The reduced digestive capacity of the infant intestine protects breast milk lactoferrin from degradation and maintain its bactericidal and bacteriostatic properties, thus restricting the growth of aerobes and facultative anaerobes in early life.

1.2.3 Secretory Immunoglobulin A

One of the most important anti-microbial bioactive factors in the breast milk are the immunoglobulins. The main antibodies present in the breast milk are IgA, IgM and IgG. IgA constitutes about 90-95% of all antibodies, with IgM accounting for 2-5% and IgG is less than 1%⁴⁶. Colostrum contains the highest amount of IgA and is essential for providing protection and immune development in the early days of life. Colostrum is required for sustenance of life in mammals such as piglets. Increased mortality rates within the first few days of life is seen in piglets

who do not receive adequate amounts of colostrum^{47,48}. Antibodies provide passive immunity from infections to the newborn infant. IgG can cross the placenta and provide protection to the fetus in-utero. However, IgA and IgM cannot cross the placenta and thus are provided to the neonate through the maternal breast milk to facilitate protection against various infections.

The structure of IgA consists of polymers of 2-4 IgA monomers bound together by disulphide linkages between the constant end of one monomer and J-chain (joining chain), which is formed in the IgA-secreting cells⁴⁹. IgA exists in dimeric form in the laminal surface of the cells and is transported across the epithelium by polymeric Ig receptor (pIgR). During transcytosis, a portion of the polypeptide chain of pIgR gets attached to the IgA and is called the secretory component⁵⁰. Thus, the dimeric IgA after transcytosis across the epithelial layer is known as the secretory IgA (sIgA) (**Figure 1.1**). The secretory component prevents the proteolytic degradation of IgA and also prevents IgA from activating effector mechanisms⁴⁹.



Figure 1.1 Structure of Secretory IgA (sIgA)

Secretory IgA is produced in the mucosal surfaces and provide anti-bacterial effects by binding to the bacteria and preventing it from invading the mucosal epithelium. Unlike IgG or IgM, the anti-bacterial activity of sIgA is not through cytolysis by activating complement or through opsonization or phagocytosis. The antibody-based immunity against the bacteria is through a) steric hinderance of bacterial surface molecules, b) increased uptake or sampling by the M-cells in the Peyer's patches, c) through modification of bacterial transcription or d) "enchaining" the bacteria to prevent gene transfer⁵¹⁻⁵³.

The importance of entero-mammary circulation of IgA-producing B-cells has been illustrated by various studies suggesting that, during pregnancy, the B-cells activated in the Peyer's patches are transported to the mammary gland, with the help of chemokine CCL28^{54,55}. These B-cells secrete IgA into the mammary gland and transferred to the infant through the breast milk⁵⁶. Recent studies have confirmed the presence of B-cells with the same variable regions in both the intestine and mammary glands, in mice⁵⁷. Thus, the IgA secreted by the B-cells in the mammary gland may be specific to particular bacterial taxa.

IgA is necessary to maintain the intestinal microbial homeostasis, as it binds to the bacteria and prevents the adhesion or invasion of the bacteria into the intestinal epithelium. Studies have observed the increase in the relative abundance of *Enterobacteriaceae* in the intestinal microbiota of patients with selective IgA deficiency as against to controls⁵⁸. This study also noticed that the overgrowth of *Enterobacteriaceae* was not controlled even with compensatory increase of IgM in these patients. Similar data has been perceived in mice models, where mice deficient in IgA (Igha^{-/-} or Jh^{-/-} mice), had similar total 16S rRNA counts as C57BL/6 mice but their microbiota was dominated by *Enterobacteriaceae*⁵⁹.

Maternal breast milk is the main source of IgA in the first few weeks of life in neonates since it takes about 3-4 weeks for the neonatal intestine to be populated by B cells⁶⁰. As infant formula does not contain IgA, formula-fed infants have an increase in the relative abundance of *Enterobacteriaceae* in their microbiota¹⁹. This suggests that IgA is required to regulate the growth of *Enterobacteriaceae* in the intestine and promote the growth of obligate anaerobes such as *Bacteroides*.

The microbiota in early life plays an important role in the development of infections and inflammatory conditions in later life. The microbial composition in early life is integral for the development of epithelial barrier functions, development of immune activation and tolerance. Early perturbation of the intestinal microbiota due to feeding differences, exposure to antibiotics, mode of delivery, genetic and environmental factors can lead to long term health consequences such as inflammatory bowel disease, asthma and allergy⁶¹. Studies in germ-free mice have depicted that in the absence of the microbiota, there is enlarged colon due to accumulation of degraded mucus, which would have been digested by the microbes and decreased intestinal peristalsis^{62,63}. These mice also had smaller crypts and absence of anti-microbial peptides⁶⁴.

The bioactive components of the breast milk discussed above support the growth of a complex microbiota and help in maintaining the diversity of the intestinal microbial ecosystem. Maternal milk provides nutrition for the physical growth and development of the neonate and also delivers bioactive components to maintain a physiological balance between the immune system and the microbiota. This aids the neonate to develop defenses against invasion by the bacteria and prevents infections later in life.

2.0 Maternal Immunoglobulin A Protects Against the Development of Necrotizing Enterocolitis

2.1 Foreword

This chapter was adapted from a previously published manuscript in Nature Medicine in 2019: **Gopalakrishna KP**, Macadangdang BR, Rogers MB, Tometich JT, Firek BA, Baker R, Ji J, Burr AH, Ma C, Good M, Morowitz MJ, Hand TW. Maternal IgA protects against the development of necrotizing enterocolitis in preterm infants. Nature medicine. 2019 Jun 17:1

2.2 Necrotizing Enterocolitis

2.2.1 Incidence and Pathophysiology

Necrotizing enterocolitis affects about 7% of preterm very low birth weight infants, resulting in both high mortality (>20%) and frequent lifelong complications amongst infants who recover^{65,66}. The exact etiology of NEC is unknown, but the disease is believed to occur subsequent to intestinal damage due to stress or hypoxia associated with prematurity and bacteria-driven immune-mediated inflammation, causing necrosis of the intestine (**Figure 2.1**)⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹.



Figure 2.1 Paradigm explaining the pathophysiology of NEC

Figure showing the intestinal epithelium and the microbiota in the lumen of the intestine. 1. Damage to the intestinal epithelium (stress, hypoxia), 2. Invasion of intestine by bacteria (*Enterobacteriaceae, Enterococcaceae*), 3. Inflammation and immune activation due to TLR4 activation causing necrosis of the intestinal epithelium.

2.2.2 Disease Manifestations, Diagnosis and Treatment

The clinical features associated with NEC are increased abdominal girth due to abdominal distension, visible intestinal loops, decreased bowel sounds, frank blood in the stools and erythema on the abdominal wall. Systemic manifestations such as respiratory failure, decreased peripheral perfusion and circulatory collapse can occur leading to adverse consequences in the infant⁶⁵.

Diagnosis of NEC is based on Modified Bell's Criteria consisting of both clinical findings and imaging of the abdomen⁷⁰. In Stage 1 or suspected disease, there are obvious clinical signs but no radiographic evidence. The infant is closely monitored for signs of distress or progression of the clinical signs, along with decompression of the bowel and brief discontinuation of oral feeding. Broad-spectrum antibiotics are also given prophylactically. In Stage 2 or definitive disease, there is radiologic evidence of pneumatosis in the intestinal wall. The feeds are completely restricted and abdominal decompression is carried out, along with broad-spectrum antibiotic treatment. The white blood cells and the platelet counts are closely monitored. In advanced cases or Stage 3, there is free gas in the intraperitoneal region and dilated loops of the bowel along with progression of the clinical signs. Laparotomy is advised sometimes along with drain placement. Surgical resection of the necrotized parts of the intestine is conducted⁷⁰. This may lead to long term complications such as short bowel syndrome, malabsorption, strictures, adhesions and failure to thrive^{71,72}. Therefore, strategies for the prevention of NEC would be of great benefit to neonatal health. The approximate healthcare expenditure for hospitalization for NEC is \$5 billion in the United States alone. This excludes the cost of surgery, which when performed also extends the duration of hospital stay, thus contributing an additional \$6.2 billion burden annually to the healthcare expenditure⁷³.

2.2.3 Maternal milk feeding is associated with decreased risk of NEC

The incidence of disease is significantly higher among infants fed with artificial formula than in those receiving maternal milk, but the mechanism(s) for these differences remain unknown⁷⁴⁻⁷⁷. NEC has been associated with shifts in the intestinal microbiota, specifically a decrease in diversity and a modestly increased relative fraction of *Enterobacteriaceae*^{78,79}. However, these changes are not sufficient for disease and thus lack predictive power. Thus, NEC appears to be caused by a failure of the preterm infant to properly contain colonizing bacteria, due in part to an immature mucosal immune system.

The diverse components of breast milk such as milk oligosaccharides and antimicrobials have been shown to modify the neonatal microbiota and reduce the incidence of NEC⁸⁰⁻⁸⁴. Breast

milk is also enriched with maternal antibodies⁸⁵. IgA, the most abundant antibody class in human milk, is particularly important in shaping the development of the pediatric microbiota by promoting maturation of the community away from *Proteobacteria* and towards anaerobic *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes*^{19,59}. Interestingly, B cells that traffic to the mammary gland and secrete IgA into maternal milk originate in the small intestine, indicating that the IgA repertoire of breast milk is primarily targeted against intestinal bacteria and may be biased towards the most common organisms of the maternal microbiota^{54,55,57,85}. For various reasons, including exposure to antibiotics and an underdeveloped gastrointestinal tract, preterm infants harbor gut microbial communities that are distinct from those of term infants⁸⁶. Specifically, the preterm gut is enriched in facultative anaerobes (*Enterobacteriaceae, Enterococcaceae* and *Staphylococcaceae*) that are relatively rare in the maternal intestinal microbiota and may be under-represented in the maternal secretory IgA repertoire⁷⁸. Therefore, we hypothesized that the failure of maternal IgA to bind intestinal bacteria is central to NEC pathogenesis (**Figure 2.2**).



Figure 2.2 Hypothesis

Maternal IgA binding of invasive intestinal bacteria is protective against the development of NEC.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Experimental Model and Subject Details

Mice

All mice were maintained at and all experiments were performed in an American Association for the Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care (AAALAC)-accredited animal facility at the University of Pittsburgh and housed in accordance with the procedures outlined in the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals under an animal study proposal approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of the University of Pittsburgh (protocol #16099226). C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Taconic Biosciences (Germantown, NY). Rag1^{-/-} mice were obtained from Jackson Laboratories (Maine). Igha^{-/-} mice were kindly provided by Dr. Yasmine Belkaid (NIH/NIAID). Both male and female age-matched mice were used for all experiments in order to account for sex differences. All the mice were housed in specific pathogen-free (SPF) conditions in the University of Pittsburgh.

Human Fecal Samples

The human study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board (Protocol Nos. PRO16030078, PRO09110437) of the University of Pittsburgh. Fecal samples were collected fresh or from the diaper of preterm infants at UPMC Magee-Womens Hospital and frozen immediately at -80°C. The samples were later divided into age-matched controls and NEC depending on the incidence of NEC.

Experimental Models

Murine model of experimental NEC was undertaken as detailed in induction of NEC.

2.3.2 Method Details

Fecal IgA Flow Cytometry and Magnetic Sorting of IgA+ and IgA- Bacteria

Either fecal pellets collected from mice after sacrifice or ~50 mg of frozen human fecal material was placed in 1.5ml Eppendorf tubes and 1ml Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) was added. The fecal material was disrupted by a combination of vortexing and pipetting and passed through a 40µm filter to remove food/fibrous material. The fecal material was diluted with PBS until the mixture's absorbance at 600nm is ~0.4 to maintain similar bacterial counts between samples and to prevent the magnetic columns from clogging. A volume of 200µl of the suspended bacterial material was then frozen at -80°C as an 'unsorted' control. An additional 200µl of the suspended material was divided equally on a 96-well plate for anti-IgA and isotype control staining for each sample to account for non-specific binding. The fractions were washed with twice with staining buffer (1% Bovine Serum Albumin (Sigma) in PBS sterile-filtered through a 0.22µm filter). The bacteria were stained with Syto BC (Green Fluorescent nuclear acid stain, Invitrogen-1:400), APC Anti-Human IgA (Miltenyi Biotec clone IS11-8E10) (1:10)/ Anti-Human IgA APC (Miltenyi Biotec clone REA1014) (1:50), Anti-Human IgM BV421 (BD Biosciences clone G20-127) (1:30)/ BV421 Mouse Anti-Human IgG (BD Horizon clone X40) (1:30) or PE-conjugated Anti-Mouse IgA (eBioscience clone mA-6E1) (1:500), Anti-Mouse Rat IgM BV421 (BD Horizon clone R6-60.2) (1:30)/ Anti-Mouse Rat IgG2a isotype (BD Horizon clone R35-95), Anti-Mouse IgG FITC (BioLegend clone Poly4060) (1:30) and blocking buffer of 20% Normal Mouse Serum for human or 20% Normal Rat Serum for mouse samples (ThermoFisher). The isotype control was stained similarly using APC Mouse IgG1 isotype control (Miltenyi Biotec clone-IS5-21F5) (1:10) or PE-conjugated Rat Anti-Mouse IFNy (eBioscience clone XMG1.2). The stained samples were

incubated in the dark for an hour at 4°C. Samples were then washed three times with 200µl of staining buffer before flow-cytometric analysis (LSRFortessa-BD Biosciences).

For magnetic activated cell sorting (MACS), we used 500µl of the suspended fecal material to compensate for the loss of material during sorting and scaled our staining volume accordingly. Anti-IgA stained fecal bacterial pellets were incubated in 1ml per sample of staining buffer containing 45µl of anti-APC or anti-PE MACS Microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec) (20 min at 4°C in dark), washed twice with 1 ml Staining Buffer (8000 x rpm, 5 min, 4°C), and then sorted using MS columns (Miltenyi Biotec). The flow-through was collected as IgA-unbound (IgA-negative) fraction and the IgA-bound fraction was eluted from the column. Columns were washed with 70% ethanol and sterile PBS between separations and the IgA-bound fraction of each sample was run five times to increase purity. 100µl each of the IgA-bound and IgA-unbound fraction was used for post-sort flow cytometric analysis (along with the unsorted sample). Absolute bacterial counts were determined by adding a known number of AccuCheck Counting beads (Life Technologies) to antibody stained fecal samples of a given mass, which allows for the calculation of the total number of SYTO (DNA)+ events in any given sample. This can then be multiplied by the measured abundance of any OTU (Operational Taxonomic Unit) to represent the number of bacteria of that taxon/mass in any sample.

DNA Extraction

All microbial DNA was extracted using the MO BIO PowerSoil DNA Isolation kit (single tube extractions). The unsorted, IgA-bound and IgA-unbound pellets were resuspended in Solution TD1 by pipetting and vortexing and ~200µl of 0.1mm diameter Zirconia/Silica beads (Biospec) were added and shaken horizontally on a lab mixer for 12-18 min at maximum speed using a MO

BIO vortex adaptor. All remaining steps followed the manufacturer's protocol. The DNA extracted was stored at -20°C for further 16s amplicon PCR and sequencing.

16S Amplicon PCR and Sequencing

PCR amplification of the small subunit ribosomal RNA gene (16S rRNA) was performed in triplicate 25µl reactions. Reactions were held at 94°C for 3 min to denature the DNA, with amplification performed for 30 cycles at 94°C for 45 s, 50°C for 60 s, and 72°C for 90 s; followed by a final extension of 10 min at 72°C⁸⁷. Amplicons were produced utilizing primers adapted for the Illumina MiSeq. Amplicons target the V4 region and primers utilized either the Illumina adaptor, primer pad and linker (forward primer) or Illumina adaptor, Golay barcode, primer pad and linker (reverse primer) followed by a sequence targeting a conserved region of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene as described^{88,89}. The only deviation from the protocol was that PCR was run for 30 cycles. Amplicons were cleaned using the Qiagen UltraClean 96 PCR Cleanup Kit. Quantification of individual amplicons was performed with the Invitrogen Quant-iT dsDNA High Sensitivity Assay Kit. Amplicons were then pooled in equimolar ratio. Agarose gel purification was performed to further purify the amplicon pool and remove undesired PCR products prior to submission for paired-end sequencing on the Illumina MiSeq.

Deconvolution and microbiome data

Flow cytometry was used to determine the percentage of IgA positive and IgA negative bacteria in each sample (unsorted, IgA positive, IgA negative) post magnetic separation. We assumed that contamination affected each OTU equally and that the IgA positive and IgA negative samples are reciprocal (fractions of the same whole). The raw reads from sequencing of 16S rRNA
genes were then deconvolved by summing the proportion of IgA bound or IgA unbound (as measured by flow cytometry) across the paired (infant and time point [Day of life]) IgA positive and IgA negative samples for each OTU.

Example to solve for IgA positive from one time point and one OTU 'X':

Total IgA positive 'X' = 'X' correctly bound to IgA positive + 'X' contaminating IgA negative Total IgA positive 'X' = (%IgA+ in bound) * (# 'X' reads in bound) + (%IgA+ in unbound) * (# 'X' reads in unbound)

Quantitative PCR for 16S rRNA

PCR amplification of the small subunit ribosomal RNA gene (16S rRNA) was performed in triplicate 10µl reactions. Reactions were held at 95°C for 3 min to denature the DNA, with amplification performed for 35 cycles (95°C for 10 s and 60°C for 30 s). The forward primer sequence of 16S was ACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT and the reverse primer sequence of 16S was ATTACCGCGGCTGCTGGC.

Quantitative PCR for Enterobacter spp.

PCR amplification of the small subunit ribosomal RNA gene (23S rRNA) was performed in triplicate 10µl reactions. Reactions were held at 95°C for 3 min to denature the DNA, with amplification performed for 35 cycles (95°C for 10 s and 60°C for 30 s). The forward primer sequence of *Enterobacter* 23S was AGTGGAACGGTCTGGAAAGG and the reverse primer sequence of *Enterobacter* 23S was TCGGTCAGTCAGGAGTATTTAGC⁹⁰.

Induction of NEC

NEC was induced in 7- to 8-day old mice by hand-feeding mice formula via gavage 5 times/day (22-gauge needle; 200µl volume; Similac Advance infant formula [Ross Pediatrics, Columbus, Ohio]/ Esbilac canine milk replacer 2:1). The formula was supplemented with 10⁷ CFUs of *Enterobacter spp*. (99%) and *Enterococcus spp*. (1%) and mice were rendered hypoxic (5%O2, 95% N2) for 10 minutes in a hypoxic chamber (Billups-Rothenberg, Del Mar, CA) twice daily for 4 days^{74,91}. We used males and females in all experiments. Disease was monitored by weighing mice daily prior to the second feed.

2.3.3 Quantification and Statistical Analysis

Flow Analysis

All the data from flow cytometry was derived from samples that were run through the LSR Fortessa flow cytometer from BD Biosciences. The raw data was analyzed through the software FlowJo V10.4.2 (FlowJo, OR, USA). The cell population abundance was measured by SytoBC+ events that range from 60% to 80% of all events; Of SytoBC+ events the range of IgA+ bacteria was <1% to 95%.

Antibody Validation

All antibody stains were compared to an isotype control which was specific for an antigen irrelevant to the intestinal microbiome (Keyhole Limpet Hemocyanin or 4-Hydroxy-3-nitrophenylacetyl).

Human: Positive antibody binding was confirmed early on by staining of pediatric IBD patients for IgA, IgG and IgM on the fecal bacteria. These patients are known to have increased

binding of such antibodies. Cross-reactivity for IgA was tested for by staining fecal bacteria of formula fed infants 10-21 days post-delivery.

Mouse: Mouse antibodies were tested for cross-reactivity by staining fecal samples from adult Rag1-/- mice that lack all antibodies.

All the antibodies used were commercial antibodies with validation procedures described on the websites of the companies.

16S rRNA Gene Sequencing Analysis

Data was collected through high-throughput sequencing- MiSeq Reporter Software v2.6. Read pairing, clustering and core diversity statistics were generated through PEAR, UPARSE and QIIME and R^{92,93}. LEfSe was used to compare family level relative abundances between NEC and control groups⁹⁴. Raw 16S rRNA data has been uploaded to SRA and is available under accession number PRJNA526906.

Deconvolution Analysis

The deconvoluted data was processed through the QIIME2 workflow to create alpha diversity metrics with sampling depth chosen based on alpha rarefaction plotting. Abundance of individual or 'pooled' (Anaerobes) OTUs was then calculated using the deconvoluted values. The algorithm for deconvolution is available on GitHub (https://github.com/handlab/IgA_Seq_Deconvolution)

We categorized all of the following OTUs as 'Anaerobes': *Bifidobacteriaceae*, *Prevotellaceae*, *Bacteroidiales_S24-7*, *Clostridiaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *Peptostreptococcaceae*, *Ruminococcaceae*, *Veillonellaceae*, *Tissierellaceae*.

Histology Scoring of NEC

The severity of disease was determined on histologic sections of the entire length of the small intestines stained with hematoxylin and eosin by trained personnel who were blinded to the study conditions according to previously published scoring system from 0 (normal) to 4 (severe)⁹⁵.

Statistical Tests

Statistical tests used are indicated in the figure legends. Lines in scatter bar charts represent the mean of that group. Group sizes were determined based on the results of preliminary experiments. Mice studies were performed in a non-blinded fashion. Statistical significance was determined with the two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test or non-parametric Mann-Whitney test when comparing two groups and one-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons, when comparing multiple groups. All statistical analyses were calculated using Prism software (GraphPad). Differences were considered to be statistically significant when p < 0.05.

Analysis software

Raw data from flow cytometry was analyzed through FlowJo V10.4.2 (FlowJo, OR, USA); QIIME2, PhyloSEQ version 1.23.1, R version 3.4.2, PEAR v0.9.0, UPARSE v10.0.0240, LEfSe Galaxy version 1.0 <u>http://huttenhower.sph.harvard.edu/galaxy</u> was used to analyze 16S rRNA sequencing data; GraphPad PRISM 7 was used for all statistical analyses.

2.3.4 Data and Software Availability

Raw 16S rRNA sequencing data has been uploaded to SRA and is available under accession number PRJNA526906. The algorithm for deconvolution is available on GitHub (https://github.com/handlab/IgA_Seq_Deconvolution).

2.4 Results

2.4.1 IgA binding to the intestinal bacteria of preterm infants is positively correlated to breastfeeding and negatively correlated to the development of NEC

To determine whether there was a correlation between antibody binding and the incidence of NEC, we analyzed the level of immunoglobulin (Ig) binding on intestinal bacteria found naturally on fecal samples obtained from 30 NEC patients and 39 matched preterm controls (**Table 2.1**). This initial cohort contained samples from NEC infants that were collected within 36 hours after diagnosis.

	NEC	Control
No. of patients	30	39
Avg. gestational age at birth (in weeks)	29 2/7	28 5/7
Mean age at NEC diagnosis (DOL)	22.2	NA
Sex	Females- 11	Females- 15
	Males- 19	Males- 24
Mean birth weight (grams)	1176.52	1202.26
Mode of Delivery	Vaginal- 11	Vaginal- 9
	Caesarean- 19	Caesarean - 30
Feeding	Maternal milk only- 6	Maternal milk only - 5
	Combination of maternal	Combination of
	milk and formula-13	maternal milk and
		formula- 26
	Formula-fed- 11	Formula-fed- 8

Table 2.1 Post-diagnosis preterm NEC/Control Cohort

The post-diagnosis preterm cohort of patients with NEC and controls included single fecal samples taken from patients with NEC and controls within 36 h of NEC diagnosis. Samples were analyzed from day of life (DOL) 4 to 70. NA-not applicable.

Fecal samples were stained with anti-human IgA antibodies and the Ig-bound populations were measured by flow cytometry^{51,96-98}. Surveyed across all samples, the percentage of IgA-bound bacteria was high (**Figure 2.3a**). To elucidate the relative roles of IgA secreted by infants and their mothers, we compared the abundance of IgA-bound fecal bacteria in samples from infants either fed exclusively with infant formula or with maternal milk (often supplemented with formula) (**Figure 2.3b**). These analyses identified that intake of maternal milk was associated with a much higher abundance of IgA-bound bacteria than formula feeding, as a majority (11/19) of formula-

fed infants had <1% of their intestinal bacteria bound by IgA irrespective of disease status (Figure 2.3b). However, some formula-fed infants harbored substantial amounts of IgA-positive bacteria. Since it takes about 4 weeks for the intestine to become populated with B cells, we hypothesized that the presence of IgA-bound bacteria in formula-fed infants would be limited to later time points post-delivery⁹⁹. Indeed, we found a significant relationship between age post-delivery and increased IgA binding in formula-fed infants but not in maternal milk-fed infants, implying that during at least the first 4 weeks of life, the primary source of IgA is maternal milk (Figure 2.3c). To focus our analysis on the effect of maternal IgA while not discarding too many NEC samples and limiting experimental power, we analyzed samples collected within 40 days of birth. We discovered that infants who develop NEC have, on average, a significantly lower proportion of IgA-bound bacteria in their intestine (Figure 2.3d). Thus, NEC is inversely correlated with bacterial IgA binding. However, because the group that developed NEC was much more likely to be formula fed (and thus lack intestinal IgA altogether) and these fecal samples were acquired post-NEC diagnosis and treatment, it was important to confirm our findings in a prospective cohort where all infants were fed maternal milk and not complicated by disease-associated inflammation and treatment.



Figure 2.3 IgA binding to the intestinal bacteria of preterm infants is positively correlated to feeding with maternal milk and negatively correlated to the development of NEC

Flow cytometry analysis of bacterial IgA binding on fecal samples from preterm infants. **a**, Example of IgA staining of samples from preterm infants. **b**, Percentage of IgA-bound bacteria from infants fed with maternal milk fed (n = 50) or formula (n = 19). The box represents the number of samples with <1% IgA binding of intestinal bacteria. Two-sided Mann–Whitney *U*-test, data are mean ± s.e.m. **c**, Percentage of IgA binding was correlated by linear regression with time after delivery for infants fed with maternal milk (n = 50) and formula (n = 19); Pearson's correlation coefficient. **d**, Percentage IgA-bound bacteria from controls (n = 28) or infants diagnosed with NEC (n = 23), from samples collected before DOL 40. Two-sided Mann–Whitney *U*-test, data are mean ± s.e.m. **b**–**d**, Samples from infants fed with maternal milk are indicated by black circles, samples from infants fed with formula are indicated by open red squares. **e**, Percentage IgA-bound intestinal bacteria from prospectively collected longitudinal samples of patients that will develop NEC (n = 10 patients, n = 39 samples) and controls (n = 13, n = 59) for each analyzed DOL. Patients are shown in different colors. Linear regression and Pearson's correlation coefficient.

To address whether a relative lack of IgA bound bacteria is associated with NEC prior to the development of disease we identified 23 preterm infants (10 NEC, 13 age and gender-matched controls) present in a previously collected cohort from whom we could analyze multiple longitudinal samples prior to the onset of disease (**Table 2.2**).

	NEC	Control
No. of patients	10	13
Avg. gestational age at birth (in weeks)	27 1/7	27 3/7
Mean age at NEC diagnosis (DOL)	27.4	NA
Sex	Females- 5	Females- 8
	Males- 5	Males- 5
Mean birth weight (grams)	873.1	932.92
Mode of Delivery	Vaginal- 0	Vaginal- 8
	Caesarean - 10	Caesarean - 5
Feeding	Maternal milk- 5	Maternal milk- 5
	Combination of maternal	Combination of maternal
	milk and formula- 5	milk and formula- 8
	Formula-fed- 0	Formula-fed- 0

Table 2.2 Prospective/longitudinal preterm NEC/Control cohort

The prospective preterm cohort of patients that will progress to NEC and controls consisted of longitudinally collected samples from infants (gestational age 24 to 31 weeks) captured prospectively (from DOL 7 to 40) and assigned to groups after the diagnosis of NEC or discharge from the neonatal intensive care unit. NA- not applicable.

Flow cytometric analysis of the samples (**Table 2.2**) revealed a lower percentage of IgA bound bacteria over time in infants that went on to develop NEC, which was not observed in controls (**Figure 2.3e and Figure 2.4**).



Figure 2.4 Fraction of intestinal bacteria bound by IgA in preterm infants

a, Percentage IgA-bound bacteria from longitudinally collected fecal samples from preterm infants in our study. The dotted red lines indicate the date of NEC diagnosis. **b**, Percentage IgA-bound intestinal bacteria from prospectively collected samples of patients that will develop NEC (n = 10, 39 samples combined) and controls (n = 13, 59 samples combined). Samples from multiple patients are pooled and represented in four-day windows post-delivery to increase the number of samples available for each time window. Box and whisker plots depict the mean (line) the 25th and 75th percentiles (box) and range (whiskers) for each time window. Two-way ANOVA.

Thus, it appears that in infants that will develop NEC, a change occurs in either the intestinal microbiota or the maternal IgA repertoire that leads to the 'escape' of intestinal bacteria from binding.

To assess the binding of IgM and IgG antibodies, we stained fecal samples with anti-IgM and anti-IgG antibodies and measured the Ig-bound populations through flow cytometry. However, inverse to IgA-bound bacteria, there were minimal IgM- and IgG-bound bacteria (**Figure 2.5a and b**). Furthermore, a separate longitudinal analysis of a preterm infant fed formula over the first 4 weeks of life revealed no IgA bound bacteria, strongly supporting the contention that the primary source of IgA in early life (first 30 days post-delivery) is maternal milk (**Figure 2.5c**).



Figure 2.5 Maternal milk-derived antibodies binding to intestinal bacteria from preterm infants

a, **b**, Representative flow plots show binding of intestinal bacteria derived from preterm infants to IgM (**a**; n = 20) and IgG (**b**; n = 12) relative to IgA. Numbers in quadrants show the mean percentage ± s.d. of data collected from the cohort in Table 1. **c**, Percentage IgA staining of intestinal bacteria of a single preterm infant fed exclusively with formula

2.4.2 The IgA unbound fraction of the microbiota lacks diversity and becomes dominated by *Enterobacteriaceae* prior the development of NEC.

To determine the mechanism of the loss of IgA binding on the intestinal bacteria of NEC patients, we then sought to correlate shifts in the composition of the microbiota with our observations of maternal IgA. To do so, we identified bacterial taxa by sequencing the

hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA genes from each sample in our longitudinal cohort (**Table 2.2**). Grouped together, over all timepoints, we observed a modest enrichment for *Enterobacteriaceae* and reduction in Gram positive anaerobes such as *Lachnospiraceae* in infants who will go on to develop NEC, similar to what has been seen in previous studies (**Figure 2.6a** and **Figure 2.6b**)⁷⁸.



Figure 2.6 Enterobacteriaceae is the most abundant family in preterm infants

Longitudinal fecal samples from preterm infants before the onset of NEC were selected from infants with NEC (n = 10, 39 samples combined) and controls (n = 13, 59 samples combined). **a**, Samples were analyzed for the relative abundance of different bacterial OTUs by targeted sequencing of 16S rRNA genes. The mean relative abundances of different taxa are shown for patients that will develop NEC and controls (pooled from all time points and infants), **b**,

Linear discriminant effect size analysis comparing pooled samples from controls or infants that will develop NEC before the diagnosis of disease. OTUs that discriminate between patients that will progress to NEC and controls before disease onset are ranked by the effect size (represented by the linear discriminant analysis (LDA) score).

Given this data and the fact that *Enterobacteriaceae* was the most abundant Operational Taxonomic Unit (OTU) in the majority of samples within the cohort, we hypothesized that the observed reduction in IgA binding in infants that develop NEC should be associated with this taxon. To test this, we plotted the relative abundance of IgA bound bacteria against *Enterobacteriaceae* within each of our samples (**Figure 2.7**).



Figure 2.7 Decrease in IgA binding in NEC patients is related to the increase in Enterobacteriaceae

Longitudinal fecal samples from preterm infants before the onset of NEC were selected from infants with NEC (n = 10, 39 samples combined) and controls (n = 13, 59 samples combined). Relative abundance of *Enterobacteriaceae* in preterm fecal samples compared to the percentage of IgA-bound bacteria from controls and patients that will develop NEC. Each patient is shown in a different color and the R² value is based on a linear regression and Pearson's correlation coefficient.

This analysis reveals a striking inverse relationship only in infants who will develop NEC in the future, which is consistent with the idea that loss of IgA binding of *Enterobacteriaceae* is

driving the reduction in IgA binding seen in NEC patients and may contribute to the development of the disease (**Figure 2.3e** and **2.7**).

We next sought to directly measure which bacterial taxa might be more or less bound by maternal antibodies in our longitudinal prospective cohort (Table 2.2). To identify the IgA positive and negative bacteria, we separated IgA-bound bacteria using magnet-activated cell sorting (MACS) and measured the bacterial taxa via the abundance of 16S rRNA genes (IgSeq)¹⁰⁰. In accord with multiple published reports^{24,26,29}, we did not achieve >99% purity in our IgA positive/IgA negative separations and we could not accurately describe either the IgA positive or IgA negative populations without significant cross-contamination (Figure 2.8a). Post-sort flow cytometric analysis of each sample for IgA binding allowed us to deconvolute the contamination of the other fraction (Figure 2.8a and b). In support of the necessity and accuracy of the deconvolution protocol we examined how the relative abundance of bacteria in IgA positive samples (as a fraction of the sum of paired IgA positive and negative reads) corresponded to the percent IgA binding measured in the unsorted sample from which they were derived. Prior to deconvolution the relative percentage of IgA positive 16S rRNA reads could be correlated to the percent IgA positive bacteria by flow cytometry in the parental unsorted sample (Figure 2.8c). However, the relationship was weakest amongst sample groupings where percent IgA bound unsorted bacteria were lowest, indicating a high level of contamination of these IgA positive samples with IgA negative bacteria and providing impetus for deconvolution (Figure 2.8c). After deconvolution, we saw a much more significant correlation between IgA positive reads and the abundance of IgA positive bacteria in the parental sample, particularly amongst samples with low levels of IgA positive unsorted bacteria. This validates that our technique is correcting for contamination introduced by imperfect sorting (Figure 2.8d).



Figure 2.8 Deconvolution method to decrease the effect of contamination in IgSeq

a, Representative staining of the abundance of IgA-bound bacteria before (unsorted) or after magnetic separation (IgA⁺ and IgA⁻) measured by flow cytometry of all samples (NEC samples, n = 39; control samples, n = 59). **b**, Graphical depiction of our deconvolution methodology. In this schematic, size represents IgA binding (large, IgA⁺; small, IgA⁻), which can be measured on intact cells, and colors represent two different taxa, which can only be

measured by sequencing. **c**, Percentage of IgA⁺ bacteria (measured by flow cytometry of unsorted fecal samples) compared to percentage of 16S rRNA reads found in the IgA⁺ sample (IgA⁺/IgA⁺ + IgA⁻). Each dot represents a paired sample derived from the same fecal sample (n = 140). **d**, The same analysis as in **c** was carried out on samples after deconvolution (n = 140). **c**, **d**, Data were analyzed by linear regression with Pearson's correlation coefficient and contain samples (n = 42) that were excluded from our prospective NEC analysis as they were collected after the NEC diagnosis, after DOL 40 or complicated by non-NEC illness and/or treatment.

The power of our study was in being able to correlate differences in the identity of IgA positive and negative bacteria from the intestine longitudinally as infants progressed (or not) to NEC. Longitudinal IgSeq analysis of intestinal microbial diversity revealed that control infants showed a significant and consistent increase in bacterial diversity amongst IgA negative bacteria over time, while no significant changes were detected in the IgA positive samples (**Figure 2.9**). Conversely, among infants who will progress to NEC, the diversity of both IgA positive and negative fecal bacteria significantly decreases over time and many NEC samples have microbiomes of very low diversity during the critical window before NEC development (3 to 5 weeks of age) (**Figure 2.9**)¹⁰¹.



Figure 2.9 Decrease in diversity is observed prior to the incidence of NEC

Longitudinal fecal samples from preterm infants before the onset of NEC were selected from infants with NEC (n = 10, 39 samples combined) and controls (n = 13, 59 samples combined). Fecal samples were separated into IgA⁺ and IgA⁻ pools before 16S rRNA sequencing and deconvolution based on post-sort analysis. Shannon diversity scores of IgA⁺ and IgA⁻ samples from patients that will develop NEC and controls for each analyzed DOL. Each patient is shown in a different color and the R² value is based on a linear regression and Pearson's correlation coefficient.

IgSeq can also identify which taxa are associated with the IgA positive and negative fractions of the microbiota. We revealed that over time the IgA negative intestinal microbiota of infants who go on to develop NEC become significantly dominated by *Enterobacteriaceae*, while the fraction of the microbiota composed of anaerobes (predominantly *Clostridiales* and *Bifidobacteriales* with few *Bacteroidiales*) is almost undetectable in many infants (**Figure 2.10a**,

b and **Figure 2.11**). Conversely and in accord with diversity measurements, amongst controls the relative abundance of fastidious anaerobes increases while *Enterobacteriaceae* decreases in the IgA negative fraction, confirming that this taxon is bound at relatively higher frequencies over time in control infants compared to infants that will develop NEC (Figure 2.8a, b and Figure 2.9).



Figure 2.10 Infants who develop NEC have increased Enterobacteriaceae

Longitudinal fecal samples from preterm infants before the onset of NEC were selected from infants with NEC (n = 10, 39 samples combined) and controls (n = 13, 59 samples combined). Fecal samples were separated into IgA⁺ and IgA⁻ pools before 16S rRNA sequencing and deconvolution based on post-sort analysis. **a**, Relative abundance of *Enterobacteriaceae* from IgA⁺ and IgA⁻ samples from patients that will develop NEC and controls for each analyzed DOL. **b**, Relative abundance of combined anaerobic bacterial OTUs from IgA⁺ and IgA⁻ samples from patients that will develop NEC and controls for each analyzed DOL. Each patient is shown in a different color and the R² value is based on a linear regression and Pearson's correlation coefficient.

Interestingly, while the IgA positive and negative fractions from controls differed in both diversity and the relative abundance of *Enterobacteriaceae*, in NEC patients they are not discernibly different (**Figure 2.9** and **2.10a**). An explanation for the lack of difference between the IgA positive and negative fractions of NEC infants is that they often show very low diversity and



are dominated by Enterobacteriaceae, so essentially there are few taxa available for IgA to bind

(Figure 2.11).

Figure 2.11 Longitudinal analysis of the intestinal microbiota of preterm infants

Stacked bar charts depict the relative abundances of OTUs (unsorted sample, deconvolved IgA⁺ and IgA⁻ fractions) at the family level, from all patients in our study, at all time points analyzed. Patients will develop NEC, n = 10, 39 samples combined; controls, n = 13, 59 samples combined.

To further test whether *Enterobacteriaceae* is uniquely enriched in the IgA negative fraction of infants prior to NEC we calculated the relative total abundance of different OTUs, compared between IgA positive and negative samples derived from the same 'parental' fecal sample. Our evidence for the validity of this approach is the significant correlation between the percent IgA positive bacteria (measured by flow cytometry) and the relative percent IgA positive reads [IgA⁺reads/(IgA⁺+ IgA⁻ reads)] which indicates that post-deconvolution the ratio of reads between the two samples corresponds well to the actual ratio in the parental source sample (**Figure 2.8d**). By calculating the ratio of the paired IgA negative and positive reads (IgA⁻ reads/IgA⁺ reads; Log2 transformed), we observed a unique increase over time in the proportion of IgA negative total and *Enterobacteriaceae* reads in infants who went on to develop NEC (**Figure 2.12**).



Figure 2.12 Increase in the proportion of IgA negative fraction of total bacterial and *Enterobacteriaceae* counts preceding NEC

Longitudinal fecal samples from preterm infants before the onset of NEC were selected from infants with NEC (n = 10, 39 samples combined) and controls (n = 13, 59 samples combined). Fecal samples were separated into IgA⁺ and IgA⁻ pools before 16S rRNA sequencing and deconvolution based on post-sort analysis. Ratio of reads (IgA⁻/IgA⁺; log₂-transformed values) from paired IgA⁺ and IgA⁻ samples for each analyzed DOL. The ratios of total number of bacterial reads, *Enterobacteriaceae* reads and combined anaerobe reads are shown. Each patient is shown in a different color and the R² value is based on a linear regression and Pearson's correlation coefficient.

As *Enterobacteriaceae* is the most abundant OTU in preterm infants and the only taxa uniquely increasing in the IgA negative fraction of the microbiota prior to disease, the increase in IgA negative *Enterobactericeae* is the most likely driver of the reduced IgA bound bacteria seen preceding NEC (**Figure 2.3e**, **2.6a**, **2.12** and **Figure 2.13**). In contrast, control infants show no significant shifts in the relative abundances of IgA positive and negative total bacteria, *Enterobacteriaceae* or anaerobes and instead only show significant shifts in the less abundant OTUs such as *Staphylococcaceae*, *Streptococcaceae* and *Enterococcaceae* (**Figure 2.12** and **Figure 2.13**).



Figure 2.13 Ratio of IgA- to IgA+ reads for low abundance taxa

a–**c**, Ratio of reads (IgA⁻/IgA⁺; log₂-transformed values) from paired IgA⁺ and IgA⁻ samples shown for each analyzed DOL. **a**, *Staphylococcaceae* reads. **b**, *Streptococcaceae* reads. **c**, *Enterococcaceae* reads. For all graphs, each patient is shown in a different color and the R^2 value is based on a linear regression and Pearson's correlation coefficient. The number of samples used in each graph varies because instances in which the IgA⁺ and/or IgA⁻ samples had zero reads were excluded.

Taken together, our data indicates that the development of NEC is uniquely preceded by a domination of the intestinal microbiota by Enterobacteriaceae that lack IgA binding. The increased frequency of *Enterobacteriaceae* is accompanied by a failure of the IgA negative fraction of the preterm microbiome to diversify via the acquisition of fastidious anaerobic bacteria (*Clostridiales* and *Bifidobacteriales*). One explanation for this phenomenon would be a selective rapid outgrowth of Enterobacteriaceae in infants that later develop NEC, as seen previously in other inflammatory contexts¹⁰². To test this possibility, we used a combination of flow cytometry and counting beads combined with 16S rRNA sequencing to determine the number of each bacteria per unit mass in each fecal sample¹⁰³. Although we saw increased *Enterobacteriaceae* amongst some infants developing NEC, inter-individual variation was high and there were no statistically significant differences between cases and controls and no observation of a rapid expansion of this taxon (Figure 2.14). Many infants who will go on to develop NEC have almost no anaerobes, so while total number of *Enterobacteriaceae* is not increased in these infants the relative fraction of the microbiota derived from this taxon is very significantly different (Figure 2.12 and Figure 2.13). Also, our analysis may not well represent the site of the disease (small intestine) so we cannot rule out that there are focal expansions of Enterobacteriaceae associated with NEC. Nonetheless, we favor a model where loss of IgA binding of the microbiota is induced either by mutation or by transcriptional modifications that allow various bacterial clones from the Enterobacteriaceae family to escape the maternal IgA repertoire but do not lead to acute increases in the total number of these bacteria present in the intestine.



Figure 2.14 Absolute number of bacteria and number of bacteria associated with the dominant taxa in preterm infants

a, Total number of bacteria in each fecal sample determined by bead-based flow cytometry analysis. Black circles represent controls (n = 8, 43 samples combined); red triangles represent infants that went on to develop NEC (n = 5, 24 samples combined). **b**, Total number of *Enterobacteriaceae* in patients that will develop NEC (right) and controls (left). Semi-log non-linear regression. **c**, Total number of anaerobes in patients that will develop NEC (right) and controls (left). Semi-log non-linear regression.

2.4.3 IgA is a necessary component of breast milk for the prevention of the development of experimental NEC.

Based upon our results, we turned to a commonly used murine model of experimental NEC to further define the importance of maternal IgA in the pathogenesis of the disease. In this model, NEC-like pathology is frequently observed in 10-12 day old formula-fed pups exposed by oral gavage of bacteria derived from the intestine of a NEC patient (99% *Enterobacter spp.* and 1% *Enterococcus spp.*), whereas maternal milk-fed pups exposed to the same bacterial gavage do not develop disease ^{104,105}. To investigate the importance of maternal IgA in NEC, we set up a breeding program where heterozygote wild-type pups were fed by mothers that either can (C57BL/6) or cannot produce IgA (Rag1^{-/-} or Igha^{-/-}) (**Figure 2.15**).



Figure 2.15 Breeding scheme for murine model of experimental NEC

Experimental NEC mouse model in which wild-type pups are fed by dams that either can (C57BL/6 mice (n = 31)) or cannot produce IgA ($Rag1^{-/-}$ mice (n = 22) or $Igha^{-/-}$ mice (n = 14)). Formula-fed mice (n = 48) are used as a positive control.

This scheme allows us to focus on maternally-derived intestinal IgA as pups born to wildtype C57BL/6 and Igha^{-/-} mothers will receive normal amounts of maternal IgG via the placenta, which has been shown to be critical for control of neonatal bacteremia^{106,107}. We confirmed that mice, like humans, produce little IgA during their first two weeks of life and that mothers are the primary source of neonatal IgA^{99,108,109} (**Figure 2.16a and b**). To determine the role of IgM and IgG on the intestinal bacteria, we also stained ileal contents along with fecal samples from the pups (**Figure 2.16a and b**).



Figure 2.16 Percent of intestinal bacteria bound by different Ig classes in wild type pups with dams of various genotypes

Graph showing the Ig bound bacteria in pups from **Figure 2.15**. **a**, Representative images of IgA staining of the fecal matter of 12-day-old pups from **Figure 2.15**. Images show the absence of IgA-bound bacteria in dam breast-fed and

formula-fed pups. **b**, High percent IgA binding to bacteria is seen in pups fed by C57BL/6 mother. Increased percent of IgG binding to bacteria seen only in pups fed by Igha^{-/-} mothers may be reciprocal to the absence of IgA. C57BL/6 (n=8), $Rag1^{-/-}$ (n=3), $Igha^{-/-}$ (n=3) mothers or that were formula-fed (n=4), repeated over 3 different experiments.

However, we noticed that some mice fed by Igha^{-/-} mothers had IgG bound bacteria, but this result was inconsistent and did not appear to affect the incidence of NEC. Strikingly, pups undergoing the NEC protocol that were breast-fed by mothers lacking IgA (Rag1^{-/-} or Igha^{-/-}) showed a phenotype consistent with the formula-fed pups. Specifically, they exhibited increased mortality, severe intestinal damage characterized by shortened and necrotic villi, and mucosal sloughing that was indistinguishable from formula-fed controls (**Figure 2.17a-c**).



Figure 2.17 Pups fed by mothers deficient in antibodies in breast milk had disease severity similar to formula fed pups

a, Representative images of hematoxylin and eosin staining of small intestines of pups that underwent the mouse protocol that induces NEC; pups were fed by C57BL/6 (n = 23), $Rag1^{-/-}$ (n = 17), $Igha^{-/-}$ (n = 17) mothers or were formula fed (n = 40). **b**, Histology scores of the small intestines of pups from **a** on day-5 of the NEC protocol. One-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons; data are mean ± s.e.m. **c**, Percentage of pups, from **Figure 2.15**, that survived the NEC protocol at different time points. Statistics determined by log-rank (Mantel–Cox) test. ****P = 0.00007. **d**, Weights of pups from **Figure 2.15**. Statistical difference calculated by one-way ANOVA with multiple comparisons on weights at experimental completion point; data are mean ± s.e.m. ****P = 0.0001. Data shown in **a-d** are grouped from three individual experiments with minimum n = 5 pups in each group for every experiment.

Furthermore, pups fed by Igha^{-/-} mothers exhibited a significant reduction in weight gain compared to pups fed by wild type mothers (Figure 2.17d). Indeed, our analysis of the murine model of NEC was limited to gross physiological and pathological analysis of the disease and we would argue that it matches perfectly with our human data. Specifically, the bacteria that are necessary to induce murine disease, Enterobacteriaceae and Enterococcaceae are the exact taxa identified to be most significantly 'unbound' prior to the development of NEC (Figure 2.7, 2.12 and 2.13). However, in the murine model of experimental NEC, mice are receiving relatively large amounts of bacteria (10⁷ CFU of *Enterobacter spp.* and *Enterococcus spp.*) as part of the protocol necessary to induce NEC-like disease, potentially obscuring our ability to see the effect of IgA on resident bacteria. Nevertheless, we sought to examine the microbiota of mice in undergoing the NEC protocol. Using 16srRNA gene-based sequencing we analyzed the fecal microbiota of mice undergoing the NEC protocol being fed formula or maternal fed by Rag1^{-/-}, Igha^{-/-} or C57BL/6 controls. Analysis of the OTUs revealed few substantial differences, many of which might be outside of the effects of IgA. For example, the strongest difference that we saw was a complete loss of Lactobacillaceae in formula fed pups, but this was not dependent upon a lack of IgA as all Igha^{-/-} fed and some Rag1^{-/-} fed pups had substantial amounts of this taxon (**Figure 2.18**).



Figure 2.18 Analysis of the intestinal microbiota from fecal samples of pups from Figure 2.13

Stacked bar charts of relative OTU abundance at the family level in fecal samples of mice pups on day-5 of the NEC protocol, being maternal fed by different dams C57BL/6 (n = 18), $Rag1^{-/-}$ (n = 3), $Igha^{-/-}$ (n = 10) mothers or hand-fed with formula (n = 21), samples from 3 different experiments combined together.

Perhaps the most important finding is the similarity of all of the microbiotas (dominated by *Enterobacteriaceae*, which is 99% of the bacteria provided in feeds), which we believe is driven by the daily addition of bacteria. Principal coordinate analysis bears this out. While each feeding regimen clusters separately, there is significant overlap (**Figure 2.19**).



Figure 2.19 Beta diversity between different groups of mice undergoing the NEC protocol shown through Principal coordinate analysis (biomial, weighted)

Fecal samples collected on day-5 of NEC protocol from mice pups being maternal fed by different dams C57BL/6 (n=18), $Rag1^{-/-}$ (n=3), $Igha^{-/-}$ (n=10) mothers or hand-fed with formula (n=21), samples from 3 different experiments combined together.

We also determined that *Enterobacter spp.* gavaged into pups (C57BL/6 dams) to induce NEC was enriched in the IgA positive fraction, indicating that murine dams may produce protective IgA without being vaccinated (**Figure 2.20**).



Figure 2.20 *Enterobacter spp.* is enriched in the IgA+ fraction of fecal matter of the pups breast-fed by C57BL/6 mice

Magnetically sorted IgA⁺ (left) and IgA⁻ (right) samples from fecal samples of day 12 (day 5 of NEC protocol) pups (n = 4). Frequency of *Enterobacter spp.* in each sample is shown as measured by qPCR for *Enterobacter spp.* (23S)

rRNA expression) normalized to the relative number of bacteria in each sample (as measured by 16S rRNA expression). AU, arbitrary units. *P = 0.0379 by paired Student's *t*-test.

We have thus shown, using a murine model of NEC, that maternal IgA provided in breast milk is necessary for prevention of the disease. Taken together, our data from the mouse model indicates that IgA may control intestinal bacteria by mechanisms other than controlling the accumulation/proliferation of *Enterobacteriaceae*. Indeed, recent studies have revealed that IgA binding may have only modest effects on the proliferation of bacteria and may instead 'enchain' bacteria, preventing horizontal gene transfer and mediating transcriptional change^{52,53,110-112}. We hope to be able to study these possibilities in the future and describe the mechanism of how maternal IgA shapes the colonization of neonatal intestine.

2.5 Discussion

NEC is a multi-factorial disease that is dependent upon the susceptibility of the preterm intestine and inflammation driven by a dysbiotic intestinal microbiota. Our work now adds the critical importance of maternal IgA binding of intestinal bacteria as a preventative mechanism against the development of NEC. However, some critical questions remain to be answered. First, the mechanism via which IgA might control and modify intestinal bacteria in preterm infants is unknown. IgA has been shown to modify bacterial transcription and in particular, motility and epithelial adhesion which could limit the ability of bacteria to gain access to the intestinal epithelium^{51,52}. IgA may also limit intestinal bacteria by 'enchaining' them together, allowing for easier expulsion and preventing gene transfer⁵³. The current study cannot discriminate between bacterial strains and thus we do not yet know whether the loss of IgA binding is due to colonization

with organisms that are not bound by IgA or mutation/transcriptional shifts that allow escape of resident organisms. It is also possible that local intestinal conditions may shift to allow for focal outgrowth of bacteria that overwhelms maternal IgA locally within portions of the small intestine, as maternal IgA would not increase in scale to respond to bacteria in an infant's intestine. Since all infants in our study were fed maternal milk (no donor milk) we presume that the maternal IgA repertoire is relatively stable, though temporal changes in maternal milk IgA may also contribute to shifts in bacterial binding. Future studies relying upon metagenomics and metatranscriptomics to discriminate IgA bound and unbound strains will be necessary to better understand the phenomenon¹¹³.



Figure 2.21 Schematic representation depicting the role of maternal IgA in the prevention of Necrotizing Enterocolitis

Our studies identify *Enterobacteriaceae* as the primary taxon associated with the loss of maternal IgA binding of the preterm intestinal microbiota that precedes the development of NEC. Previously it has been shown that an increased relative abundance of *Enterobacteriaceae* is

associated with the development of NEC⁷⁸. Our study now shows that IgA unbound *Enterobacteriaceae* is more closely linked to NEC disease potential than total *Enterobacteriaceae* abundance and we would hypothesize that IgA binding of this taxon is protective. Indeed, animal studies have indicated that IgA is important in controlling *Enterobacteriaceae* and establishing a mature microbiota characterized by mostly fastidious anaerobic bacteria^{19,59}. We have now shown that binding of bacteria by maternally-derived IgA may promote diversity in the microbiome and the acquisition of anaerobic bacteria during the critical window when infants make little or no IgA of their own, perhaps by limiting inflammation driven by *Enterobacteriaceae*^{19,114,115}. The abundance of *Enterobacteriaceae* within maternal fecal samples increases during the final trimester of pregnancy¹¹⁶. One explanation for this increase may be to boost antibody responses against this class of bacteria, of which many members are prominent neonatal pathogens. Thus, since many infants who suffer from NEC are delivered before the third trimester, their mothers might lack the boosting effect of *Enterobacteriaceae* outgrowth.

We do not know the bacterial targets of maternal IgA with regard to the microbiota or the nature of the B cells that produce it. In unimmunized mice, most IgA in maternal milk appears to be 'poly-specific' and capable of binding multiple moieties^{117,118}. However, mammary gland B cells are uniquely T cell dependent and intestinal bacteria induce taxa-specific plasma B cells so maternal IgA in humans living in a more diverse microbial environment may be more tightly targeted to individual taxa via affinity maturation^{119,120}. Of note, previous attempts to supplement the diet of at-risk preterm infants with venous-derived immunoglobulins (delivered orally) have largely failed to protect against the development of NEC^{121,122}. Our work would indicate that this is probably due to differences in the antigenic repertoire of secretory versus circulatory antibodies and the unique properties of secretory IgA (sIgA). A better understanding of interindividual
variation in the antigen-specific IgA repertoire might allow for targeting protective maternal milk to the most at-risk infants or augmenting the feeds of preterm infants with protective antibodies.

3.0 Maternal Immunoglobulin A Repertoire Varies Between Mothers

3.1 Foreword

This chapter contains data that will be published in future manuscripts. This work would not be possible without the following co-authors: Kara Coffey, Chelseá Johnson, Kelly Baumgartel, Cyndy Verardi, Justin Tometich, Timothy W. Hand.

3.2 Introduction

Feeding infants with breast milk has significantly reduced the incidence of NEC but has not been 100% protective⁷⁷. The long-lived affinity matured B cells in the intestine produce antigen specific IgA in response to intestinal colonization¹²⁰. The IgA-secreting B cells in the breast are derived from the intestine of the mother, suggesting a dependence on the unique intestinal microbiota of each mother^{54,57}. Antigen specificity of IgA binding can contribute to escape of certain bacteria in some mothers who have never encountered the pathogen, which could explain the incomplete protection against NEC. We propose to test the variability in IgA binding of bacteria in breast milk from different mothers and combine donor breast milk with differential IgA binding to provide maximum protection. Since we have previously shown that maternal IgA binding to intestinal microbiota of infants has been correlated to be protective against NEC, it would be important to study the IgA repertoire of the breast milk.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Experimental Model and Subject Details

Human Donor Breast Milk Samples

The human study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board (Protocol Nos. PRO18090392) of the University of Pittsburgh. Frozen donor breast milk samples were collected from the Mid-Atlantic Mother's Milk Bank DBA Human Milk Science Institute and Biobank and stored at -80°C.

3.3.2 Method Details

IgA Extraction from Donor Breast milk

Donor breast milk was thawed at 4° C overnight and 2ml of the breast milk was placed in 2ml Eppendorf tubes. To separate the whey protein from the fat, the breast milk was centrifuged at 16,000g for 5 mins at 4° C. The fat forms a layer at the top of the tube. The whey protein was separated from the fat by carefully pipetting and filtered through a 0.22µm syringe filter. The filtered sample was then passed through a gravity flow column containing peptide M/agarose, after equilibrating the column with 10ml of wash buffer (1x Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS)). Allow the sample to completely enter the matrix. Wash the column with 20ml of PBS. The column was then eluted with 10ml elution buffer (0.1 M glycine, pH 2-3). 10ml of 1 M Tris with pH of 7.5 was used to neutralize the solution¹²³. The 20ml of the sample was concentrated using a protein concentrator, by centrifugation of the column at 3000g for 20 min at 4° C. The concentrated sample was collected in 1.5ml Eppendorf tubes, IgA concentration was measured through Nanodrop and stored at -80° C.

Bacterial culture and preparation of bacterial plates

The different families and strains of bacteria are purchased through American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) and grown according to guidelines provided by ATCC. Bacteria was grown to $\sim 10^8$ CFU/ml, (Colony Forming Units) as measured by OD. 25µl of 8x10⁸ CFU/ml will be added to 2 wells each in a 96-well U-bottom plate, as experiment and control. In order to preserve the integrity of the bacteria during freezing process, 2µl of sterile glycerol was added to each well and resuspended with the bacterial solution. The plates were then stored at -80° C.

Bacterial Flow Assay

The bacterial plates, stored at -80° C, were thawed at room temperature and washed twice with staining buffer (0.5% Bovine Serum Albumin (Sigma) in PBS-filtered through a 2.2µm filter). The concentrated IgA from the breast milk was thawed at 4° C and normalized to 0.1mg/ml by diluting the sample with sterile 1x PBS. 25µl of the normalized IgA was added to all the bacteria in the experimental wells. For controls, 25µl of sterile 1x PBS was added. The plate was incubated for 1 hour, in dark at 4° C. After incubating for an hour, the plate was washed 2.5x times with the staining buffer. All the wells in the 96-well plate were stained with Syto BC (Green Fluorescent nuclear acid stain, Invitrogen-1:400), APC Anti-Human IgA (Anti-Human IgA APC (Miltenyi Biotec clone REA1014) (1:50) and blocking buffer of 20% Normal Mouse Serum for human samples (ThermoFisher). The stained samples were incubated in dark for an hour at 4°C. Samples were then washed three times with 200µl of staining buffer before flow-cytometric analysis (LSRFortessa-BD Biosciences).

3.3.3 Quantification and Statistical Analysis

Flow Analysis

All the data from flow cytometry was derived from samples that were run through the LSR Fortessa flow cyometer from BD Biosciences. The raw data was analyzed through the software FlowJo V10.4.2 (FlowJo, OR, USA). The cell population abundance was measured by SytoBC+ events that range from 60% to 80% of all events; Of SytoBC+ events the range of IgA+ bacteria was <1% to 95%.

Antibody Validation

All antibody stains were compared to an isotype control which was specific for an antigen irrelevant to the intestinal microbiome (Keyhole Limpet Hemocyanin or 4-Hydroxy-3-nitrophenylacetyl).

Human: Positive antibody binding was confirmed early on by staining of pediatric IBD patients for IgA on the fecal bacteria. These patients were known to have increased binding of such antibodies. Cross-reactivity for IgA was tested for by staining fecal bacteria of formula fed infants 10-21 days post-delivery.

Statistical Tests

Spearman Rank Correlation was used to identify the difference in IgA binding between different donor breast milk IgA in the heatmap.

Analysis software

Raw data from flow cytometry was analyzed through FlowJo V10.4.2 (FlowJo, OR, USA); The heat map was created using the software Heatmapper¹²⁴.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Difference in the repertoire of IgA binding to a single bacterium in different donor breast milk samples.

To study the difference in the repertoire of IgA binding to bacteria, we collected donor breast milk from the Mid-Atlantic Mother's Milk bank and concentrated the IgA by passing the filtered whey protein from the breast milk through peptide-M agarose columns (**Table 3**). The concentration of IgA was measured via Nanodrop and normalized for downstream applications.

Donor Number	Gestational age at birth of the infant	Sample collected
		(Days postpartum)
1	41 weeks	14-36
2	38 weeks 5 days	37-48
3	38 weeks 5 days	66-70
4	40 weeks	276-469
6	37 weeks	38-48
7	40 weeks 3 days	89-101
8	40 weeks 2 days	161-164
9	40 weeks 4 days	66-123
10	40 weeks	6-93
12	40 weeks 5 days	52-61
13	33 weeks 6 days	14-18
14	Not known	261

Table 3.1 List of donor breast milk samples collected from the Mid-Atlantic Breast Milk Bank

One breast milk sample per donor was collected, from which IgA was extracted.

Bacteria were grown to $\sim 10^8$ CFU/ml (as measured by OD) and 2×10^7 CFU was added to each well in a 96-well plate. The IgA purified from the donor breast milk was combined with the bacteria. Secondary staining was conducted with anti-human IgA, and IgA binding to the bacteria was measured through flow cytometry (**Figure 3.1**).



Each well has a different bacteria

Figure 3.1 Schematic representation of the experimental procedure

We have validated the difference in IgA binding to a single bacterium with four different donor breast milk IgA isolates (**Figure 3.2**), in which we observed differences in IgA binding repertoire.



Figure 3.2 Histogram depicting the differences in IgA binding to *Enterococcus faecalis* from four different donor breast milk

3.4.2 Variation in the repertoire of IgA binding to bacterial array in different donor breast milk samples.

With this as a basis, we tested the IgA extracted from donor breast milk from **Table 3.1** to an array of bacteria (**Table 3.2**), which have been previously recognized in the infant microbiota¹²⁵.

Number of bacteria	Strain Name	Family Name
1	Citrobacter rodentium	
2	Enterobacter aerogenes	
3	Enterobacter cloacae	
4	Escherichia coli 587	—
5	Escherichia coli 596	
6	Escherichia coli 605	Enterobacteriaceae
7	Escherichia coli 909	
8	Escherichia coli 910	
9	Escherichia coli 4185	
10	Escherichia coli ECO2A	
11	Escherichia coli ECMB	

Table 3.2 List of bacteria identified from preterm neonates

Table 3.2 Continued

12	Escherichia coli ECT5	
13	Escherichia coli MT8	
14	Salmonella typhimurium SL3261	
15	Enterobacter spp.	
16	Klebsiella aerogenes 13048	
17	Klebsiella oxytoca 43165	
18	Klebsiella oxytoca K405	
19	Klebsiella pneumoniae	
20	Serratia marcescens 855	
21	Serratia marcescens 853	
22	Proteus mirabilis	
23	Proteus vulgaris	
24	Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Pseudomonadaceae
25	Moraxella nonliquefaciens	Moraxellaceae
26	Lactobacillus casei	Lactobacillaceae
27	Streptococcus agalactiae	Streptococcaceae
28	Staphylococcus aureus RS	
29	Staphylococcus aureus TWH	
30	Staphylococcus capitis	
31	Staphylococcus epidermidis	
	LM087	Staphylococcaceae
32	Staphylococcus epidermidis	
	<i>LM088</i>	
33	Staphylococcus epidermidis RS	
34	Staphylococcus saprophyticus	
35	Enterococcus faecalis 2649	
36	Enterococcus faecalis 19433	Enterococcaceae
37	Enterococcus faecium	

To standardize the protocol, we used frozen 96-well plate, containing the array of bacteria, to test different donor breast milk IgA samples. We noticed a significant variation in IgA binding between different donors, particularly amongst bacterial strains from *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Enterococcus*, where the binding of IgA was stronger in some donors compared to the rest. We observed the same difference in IgA binding to Gram-positive organisms (**Figure 3.3**). We have also noticed that some donors exhibit a strain level difference of IgA binding in the family *Enterobacteriaceae*.



Figure 3.3 Variation in the repertoire of IgA binding to bacterial array in different donor breast milk samples Heat map depicting the difference in IgA binding to different bacteria (n=37) in a single donor breast milk sample. This heat map also shows the differences in the IgA repertoire of different mother (n=12). The binding of IgA was measured by the log 2 value of the product of percent IgA binding and normalized mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) as calculated from flow cytometry. Least binding is depicted in blue and maximum binding is shown in orange. The samples where data was not available are shown in black color.

3.5 Discussion

Breast milk is the best source of nutrition to a newborn infant. It is rich in carbohydrates, fats and proteins required for the growth and development of the neonate. However, along with being a source of nutrition, breast milk is also immunologically enriched with live white blood cells, cytokines, growth factors, human milk oligosaccharides and anti-microbials. Milk oligosaccharides and anti-microbials, such as lactoferrin, have been two of the most promising possibilities showing protection against NEC in animal models^{27,82,83}. Antimicrobials in the breast milk consist of large amounts of antibodies comprised primarily of IgA with smaller amounts of immunoglobulin M (IgM) and immunoglobulin G (IgG)⁸⁵. The role of maternal breast milk IgA in the prevention of NEC has not been previously studied.

Maternal IgA, which does not cross the placenta, is provided to the infant through breast milk. IgA has been shown to be important in shaping the development of the pediatric microbiota by promoting maturation of the community away from *Proteobacteria* and towards anaerobic *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes*, thus preventing enteric infections^{19,59}. Interestingly, the IgA-secreting B cells that provide breast milk IgA are derived from the small intestine of the mother, indicating that the IgA repertoire of breast milk is primarily targeted against intestinal bacteria and may be biased towards the most common organisms of the maternal microbiota^{54,57}. As the microbiota of individual mothers is different, the IgA produced in the breast milk is unique to each mother and may have varied specificity to different bacteria. For various reasons including exposure to antibiotics and an underdeveloped gastrointestinal tract, preterm infants harbor gut microbial communities that are distinct from those of healthy term infants and adults⁸⁶. Moreover, the preterm gut is rich in facultative anaerobes (*Enterobacteriaceae, Staphylococcaceae*) that are relatively rare in the maternal intestinal microbiota⁷⁸. This may explain the variability in protection

conferred by breast milk. Studies have shown a bloom in *Enterobacteriaceae* in the intestine of pregnant women in the third trimester¹¹⁶. We believe that this is an evolutionary mechanism as pregnant women then produce IgA antibodies against *Enterobacteriaceae*. These antibodies are transported to the mammary gland and are secreted through the breast milk. This might provide protection to newborn infants as studies have indicated that in the first few weeks of life, the intestine of the neonates is mainly colonized by *Enterobacteriaceae*¹⁴. However, in preterm delivery, this boosting mechanism may be absent, leading to an uninhibited growth of facultative anaerobes.

In our study, we have described a novel technique through which the IgA repertoire of the breast milk can be evaluated. This method allows us to test the difference in IgA binding to an array of bacteria and examine the breast milk of various mothers. We have observed that not only IgA extracted from a single donor's breast milk displays varied binding to different bacteria but also that IgA binding to bacteria is different in each mother. We believe this might be due to the unique microbiota of every mother, which is constantly changing due to external and internal factors that the mother may experience. However, our study is limited to a single sample from a donor. It would be interesting to examine the repertoire of IgA over a period of time by collecting multiple samples from a single donor. Furthermore, we can also test whether there are differences in IgA repertoire between mothers with a term infant vs a preterm infant, as there are studies suggesting the increase in abundance of *Enterobacteriaceae* in the third trimester of pregnancy¹¹⁶. The rational of this study is that donor breast milk from mothers with high IgA specificity to *Enterobacteriaceae* can be provided prophylactically to preterm neonates who are at risk for developing debilitating diseases like necrotizing enterocolitis.

Bibliography

- 1. Eidelman, A.I. & Schanler, R.J.J.P. Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. (2012).
- 2. Organization, W.H. Infant and young child nutrition. (1983).
- 3. Nommsen, L.A., Lovelady, C.A., Heinig, M.J., Lönnerdal, B. & Dewey, K.G.J.T.A.j.o.c.n. Determinants of energy, protein, lipid, and lactose concentrations in human milk during the first 12 mo of lactation: the DARLING Study. **53**, 457-465 (1991).
- 4. Hanson, L.A. & Winberg, J.J.A.o.D.i.C. Breast milk and defence against infection in the newborn. **47**, 845 (1972).
- 5. Ballard, O. & Morrow, A.L.J.P.C. Human milk composition: nutrients and bioactive factors. **60**, 49-74 (2013).
- 6. Lönnerdal, B. Human milk proteins. in *Protecting Infants through Human Milk* 11-25 (Springer, 2004).
- 7. Bauer, J. & Gerss, J.J.C.n. Longitudinal analysis of macronutrients and minerals in human milk produced by mothers of preterm infants. **30**, 215-220 (2011).
- 8. Saarela, T., Kokkonen, J. & Koivisto, M.J.A.P. Macronutrient and energy contents of human milk fractions during the first six months of lactation. **94**, 1176-1181 (2005).
- 9. Martin, M.A., *et al.* Fatty acid composition in the mature milk of Bolivian foragerhorticulturalists: controlled comparisons with a US sample. **8**, 404-418 (2012).
- 10. Newburg, D.S., Ruiz-Palacios, G.M. & Morrow, A.L.J.A.R.N. Human milk glycans protect infants against enteric pathogens. **25**, 37-58 (2005).
- 11. Morrow, A.L., Ruiz-Palacios, G.M., Jiang, X. & Newburg, D.S.J.T.J.o.n. Human-milk glycans that inhibit pathogen binding protect breast-feeding infants against infectious diarrhea. **135**, 1304-1307 (2005).
- 12. Cacho, N.T. & Lawrence, R.M.J.F.i.i. Innate immunity and breast milk. 8, 584 (2017).
- 13. Qin, J., *et al.* A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. **464**, 59 (2010).
- 14. Arrieta, M.-C., Stiemsma, L.T., Amenyogbe, N., Brown, E.M. & Finlay, B.J.F.i.i. The intestinal microbiome in early life: health and disease. **5**, 427 (2014).

- 15. Shao, Y., *et al.* Stunted microbiota and opportunistic pathogen colonization in caesareansection birth. **574**, 117-121 (2019).
- 16. Ho, N.T., *et al.* Meta-analysis of effects of exclusive breastfeeding on infant gut microbiota across populations. **9**, 4169 (2018).
- 17. Lee, S.A., *et al.* Comparison of the gut microbiota profile in breast-fed and formula-fed Korean infants using pyrosequencing. **9**, 242-248 (2015).
- 18. Guaraldi, F., Salvatori, G.J.F.i.c. & microbiology, i. Effect of breast and formula feeding on gut microbiota shaping in newborns. **2**, 94 (2012).
- 19. Planer, J.D., *et al.* Development of the gut microbiota and mucosal IgA responses in twins and gnotobiotic mice. *Nature* **534**, 263 (2016).
- 20. Newburg, D.S.J.J.o.p.g. & nutrition. Oligosaccharides in human milk and bacterial colonization. **30**, S8-S17 (2000).
- 21. Thomson, P., Medina, D.A. & Garrido, D.J.F.m. Human milk oligosaccharides and infant gut bifidobacteria: molecular strategies for their utilization. **75**, 37-46 (2018).
- 22. Kunz, C., Rudloff, S., Baier, W., Klein, N. & Strobel, S.J.A.r.o.n. Oligosaccharides in human milk: structural, functional, and metabolic aspects. **20**, 699-722 (2000).
- 23. Porras, O., Andersson, B., Hanson, L.Å., Lagergård, T. & Edén, C.S. Inhibition of Attachment of Streptococcus Pneumoniae and Haemophilus Influenzae by Human Milk. in *Human Lactation* 2 559-568 (Springer, 1986).
- 24. Andersson, B., Porras, O., Hanson, L.Å., Lagergård, T. & Svanborg-Edén, C.J.J.o.i.d. Inhibition of attachment of Streptococcus pneumoniae and Haemophilus influenzae by human milk and receptor oligosaccharides. **153**, 232-237 (1986).
- 25. Cervantes, L., Soto, L., Newburg, D., Ruiz-Palacios, G.J.M., ecology & disease, h. Campylobacter jejuni receptor analogs present in human milk. **4**, S27 (1991).
- 26. Newburg, D.S., Pickering, L.K., McCluer, R.H. & Cleary, T.G.J.J.o.I.D. Fucosylated oligosaccharides of human milk protect suckling mice from heat-stabile enterotoxin of Escherichia coli. **162**, 1075-1080 (1990).
- 27. Good, M., *et al.* The human milk oligosaccharide 2'-fucosyllactose attenuates the severity of experimental necrotising enterocolitis by enhancing mesenteric perfusion in the neonatal intestine. **116**, 1175-1187 (2016).
- 28. Yolken, R.H., *et al.* Human milk mucin inhibits rotavirus replication and prevents experimental gastroenteritis. **90**, 1984-1991 (1992).

- 29. Smilowitz, J.T., Lebrilla, C.B., Mills, D.A., German, J.B. & Freeman, S.L.J.A.r.o.n. Breast milk oligosaccharides: structure-function relationships in the neonate. **34**, 143-169 (2014).
- 30. Lawson, M.A., *et al.* Breast milk-derived human milk oligosaccharides promote Bifidobacterium interactions within a single ecosystem. 1-14 (2019).
- 31. Taft, D., *et al.* Population Duration of Breastfeeding and Prevalence of Bifidobacterium Longum Subspecies Infantis (OR01-01-19). (Oxford University Press, 2019).
- 32. Michaelsen, K.F., Skafte, L., Badsberg, J.H., Jørgensen, M.J.J.o.p.g. & nutrition. Variation in macronutrients in human bank milk: influencing factors and implications for human milk banking. **11**, 229-239 (1990).
- 33. Coppa, G.V., *et al.* Changes in carbohydrate composition in human milk over 4 months of lactation. **91**, 637-641 (1993).
- 34. Sprenger, N., De Castro, C.A., Steenhout, P. & Thakkar, S.K.J.P.O. Longitudinal change of selected human milk oligosaccharides and association to infants' growth, an observatory, single center, longitudinal cohort study. **12**, e0171814 (2017).
- 35. Cabrera-Rubio, R., *et al.* The human milk microbiome changes over lactation and is shaped by maternal weight and mode of delivery. **96**, 544-551 (2012).
- 36. Gabrielli, O., *et al.* Preterm milk oligosaccharides during the first month of lactation. **128**, e1520-e1531 (2011).
- 37. De Leoz, M.L.A., *et al.* Lacto-N-tetraose, fucosylation, and secretor status are highly variable in human milk oligosaccharides from women delivering preterm. **11**, 4662-4672 (2012).
- 38. Groves, M.L.J.J.o.t.A.C.S. The isolation of a red protein from Milk2. **82**, 3345-3350 (1960).
- 39. Ward, P., Paz, E., Conneely, O.J.C. & Sciences, M.L. Lactoferrin. 62, 2540 (2005).
- 40. Hamosh, M.J.P.C.o.N.A. Bioactive factors in human milk. 48, 69-86 (2001).
- 41. Yang, Z., *et al.* Concentration of Lactoferrin in Human Milk and Its Variation during Lactation in Different Chinese Populations. **10**, 1235 (2018).
- 42. Jenssen, H. & Hancock, R.E.J.B. Antimicrobial properties of lactoferrin. 91, 19-29 (2009).
- 43. Arnold, R.R. & Cole, M.F.J.S. A bactericidal effect for human lactoferrin. **197**, 263-265 (1977).
- 44. Appelmelk, B.J., *et al.* Lactoferrin is a lipid A-binding protein. **62**, 2628-2632 (1994).

- 45. García-Montoya, I.A., Cendón, T.S., Arévalo-Gallegos, S. & Rascón-Cruz, Q.J.B.e.B.A.-G.S. Lactoferrin a multiple bioactive protein: an overview. **1820**, 226-236 (2012).
- 46. Brandtzaeg, P.J.F.i.i. Secretory IgA: designed for anti-microbial defense. 4, 222 (2013).
- 47. Quesnel, H., Farmer, C. & Devillers, N.J.L.S. Colostrum intake: Influence on piglet performance and factors of variation. **146**, 105-114 (2012).
- 48. Devillers, N., Le Dividich, J. & Prunier, A.J.A. Influence of colostrum intake on piglet survival and immunity. **5**, 1605-1612 (2011).
- 49. Woof, J. & Russell, M.J.M.i. Structure and function relationships in IgA. 4, 590 (2011).
- 50. Pabst, O. & Slack, E.J.M.I. IgA and the intestinal microbiota: the importance of being specific. 1-10 (2019).
- 51. Cullender, T.C., *et al.* Innate and adaptive immunity interact to quench microbiome flagellar motility in the gut. *Cell host & microbe* **14**, 571-581 (2013).
- 52. Peterson, D.A., McNulty, N.P., Guruge, J.L. & Gordon, J.I. IgA response to symbiotic bacteria as a mediator of gut homeostasis. *Cell Host Microbe* **2**, 328-339 (2007).
- 53. Moor, K., *et al.* High-avidity IgA protects the intestine by enchaining growing bacteria. *Nature* **544**, 498 (2017).
- 54. Roux, M., Mcwilliams, M., Phillips-Quagliata, J.M., Weisz-Carrington, P. & Lamm, M. Origin of IgA-secreting plasma cells in the mammary gland. *Journal of experimental medicine* **146**, 1311-1322 (1977).
- 55. Wilson, E. & Butcher, E.C. CCL28 controls immunoglobulin (Ig) A plasma cell accumulation in the lactating mammary gland and IgA antibody transfer to the neonate. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **200**, 805-809 (2004).
- 56. Newburg, D.S.J.T.J.o.n. Innate immunity and human milk. **135**, 1308-1312 (2005).
- 57. Lindner, C., *et al.* Diversification of memory B cells drives the continuous adaptation of secretory antibodies to gut microbiota. *Nature immunology* **16**, 880 (2015).
- 58. Fadlallah, J., *et al.* Microbial ecology perturbation in human IgA deficiency. **10**, eaan1217 (2018).
- 59. Mirpuri, J., *et al.* Proteobacteria-specific IgA regulates maturation of the intestinal microbiota. *Gut Microbes* **5**, 28-39 (2014).
- 60. Rognum, T.O., Thrane, P.S., Stoltenberg, L., Vege, Å. & Brandtzaeg, P.J.P.r. Development of intestinal mucosal immunity in fetal life and the first postnatal months. **32**, 145 (1992).

- 61. Gensollen, T., Iyer, S.S., Kasper, D.L. & Blumberg, R.S.J.S. How colonization by microbiota in early life shapes the immune system. **352**, 539-544 (2016).
- 62. Gustafsson, B., Midtvedt, T. & Strandberg, K.J.S.j.o.g. Effects of microbial contamination on the cecum enlargement of germfree rats. **5**, 309 (1970).
- 63. Abrams, G.D., Bishop, J.E.J.P.o.t.S.f.E.B. & Medicine. Effect of the normal microbial flora on gastrointestinal motility. **126**, 301-304 (1967).
- 64. Vaishnava, S., Behrendt, C.L., Ismail, A.S., Eckmann, L. & Hooper, L.V.J.P.o.t.N.A.o.S. Paneth cells directly sense gut commensals and maintain homeostasis at the intestinal host-microbial interface. **105**, 20858-20863 (2008).
- 65. Neu, J. & Walker, W.A. Necrotizing enterocolitis. N Engl J Med 364, 255-264 (2011).
- 66. Hintz, S.R., *et al.* Neurodevelopmental and growth outcomes of extremely low birth weight infants after necrotizing enterocolitis. *Pediatrics* **115**, 696-703 (2005).
- 67. Neu, J. & Pammi, M. Pathogenesis of NEC: impact of an altered intestinal microbiome. in *Seminars in perinatology*, Vol. 41 29-35 (Elsevier, 2017).
- 68. Hackam, D. & Caplan, M. Necrotizing enterocolitis: Pathophysiology from a historical context. in *Seminars in pediatric surgery*, Vol. 27 11-18 (Elsevier, 2018).
- 69. Martin, C.R. & Walker, W.A. Intestinal immune defences and the inflammatory response in necrotising enterocolitis. in *Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*, Vol. 11 369-377 (Elsevier, 2006).
- 70. Lin, P.W. & Stoll, B.J.J.T.L. Necrotising enterocolitis. **368**, 1271-1283 (2006).
- 71. Ricketts, R.R.J.C.i.p. Surgical treatment of necrotizing enterocolitis and the short bowel syndrome. **21**, 365-387 (1994).
- 72. Horwitz, J.R., *et al.* Complications after surgical intervention for necrotizing enterocolitis: a multicenter review. **30**, 994-999 (1995).
- 73. Bisquera, J.A., Cooper, T.R. & Berseth, C.L.J.P. Impact of necrotizing enterocolitis on length of stay and hospital charges in very low birth weight infants. **109**, 423-428 (2002).
- 74. Good, M., *et al.* Breast milk protects against the development of necrotizing enterocolitis through inhibition of Toll-like receptor 4 in the intestinal epithelium via activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Mucosal immunology* **8**, 1166 (2015).
- 75. Meinzen-Derr, J., *et al.* Role of human milk in extremely low birth weight infants' risk of necrotizing enterocolitis or death. *Journal of Perinatology* **29**, 57 (2009).

- 76. Lucas, A. & Cole, T. Breast milk and neonatal necrotising enterocolitis. *The Lancet* **336**, 1519-1523 (1990).
- 77. Cortez, J., *et al.* Maternal milk feedings reduce sepsis, necrotizing enterocolitis and improve outcomes of premature infants. *Journal of Perinatology* **38**, 71 (2018).
- 78. Pammi, M., *et al.* Intestinal dysbiosis in preterm infants preceding necrotizing enterocolitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Microbiome* **5**, 31 (2017).
- 79. Brower-Sinning, R., *et al.* Mucosa-associated bacterial diversity in necrotizing enterocolitis. *PloS one* **9**, e105046 (2014).
- 80. Le Doare, K., Holder, B., Bassett, A. & Pannaraj, P.S. Mother's milk: A purposeful contribution to the development of the infant microbiota and immunity. *Frontiers in immunology* **9**, 361 (2018).
- 81. Good, M., *et al.* The human milk oligosaccharide 2'-fucosyllactose attenuates the severity of experimental necrotising enterocolitis by enhancing mesenteric perfusion in the neonatal intestine. *British Journal of Nutrition* **116**, 1175-1187 (2016).
- 82. Jantscher-Krenn, E., *et al.* The human milk oligosaccharide disialyllacto-N-tetraose prevents necrotising enterocolitis in neonatal rats. *Gut*, gutjnl-2011-301404 (2011).
- 83. Wisgrill, L., *et al.* Human lactoferrin attenuates the proinflammatory response of neonatal monocyte-derived macrophages. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology* (2018).
- 84. He, Y.M., *et al.* Transitory presence of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in neonates is critical for control of inflammation. *Nat Med* **24**, 224-231 (2018).
- 85. Brandtzaeg, P. The mucosal immune system and its integration with the mammary glands. *The Journal of pediatrics* **156**, S8-S15 (2010).
- 86. Arboleya, S., *et al.* Impact of Prematurity and Perinatal Antibiotics on the Developing Intestinal Microbiota: A Functional Inference Study. *Int J Mol Sci* **17**(2016).
- 87. Caporaso, J.G., *et al.* Global patterns of 16S rRNA diversity at a depth of millions of sequences per sample. **108**, 4516-4522 (2011).
- 88. Caporaso, J.G., *et al.* Ultra-high-throughput microbial community analysis on the Illumina HiSeq and MiSeq platforms. *The ISME journal* **6**, 1621 (2012).
- 89. Caporaso, J.G., *et al.* Global patterns of 16S rRNA diversity at a depth of millions of sequences per sample. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **108**, 4516-4522 (2011).

- 90. Patel, C.B., Shanker, R., Gupta, V.K. & Upadhyay, R.S. Q-PCR Based Culture-Independent Enumeration and Detection of Enterobacter: An Emerging Environmental Human Pathogen in Riverine Systems and Potable Water. *Front Microbiol* **7**, 172 (2016).
- 91. Good, M., *et al.* Lactobacillus rhamnosus HN001 decreases the severity of necrotizing enterocolitis in neonatal mice and preterm piglets: evidence in mice for a role of TLR9. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* **306**, G1021-1032 (2014).
- 92. Edgar, R.C. UPARSE: highly accurate OTU sequences from microbial amplicon reads. *Nat Methods* **10**, 996-998 (2013).
- 93. Caporaso, J.G., *et al.* QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. *Nat Methods* **7**, 335-336 (2010).
- 94. Segata, N., *et al.* Metagenomic biomarker discovery and explanation. *Genome Biol* **12**, R60 (2011).
- 95. Radulescu, A., *et al.* Heparin-binding epidermal growth factor–like growth factor overexpression in transgenic mice increases resistance to necrotizing enterocolitis. *Journal of pediatric surgery* **45**, 1933-1939 (2010).
- 96. Kubinak, J.L., *et al.* MyD88 signaling in T cells directs IgA-mediated control of the microbiota to promote health. *Cell host & microbe* **17**, 153-163 (2015).
- 97. Palm, N.W., *et al.* Immunoglobulin A coating identifies colitogenic bacteria in inflammatory bowel disease. *Cell* **158**, 1000-1010 (2014).
- 98. Slack, E., *et al.* Innate and adaptive immunity cooperate flexibly to maintain hostmicrobiota mutualism. *Science* **325**, 617-620 (2009).
- Rognum, T.O., Thrane, P.S., Stoltenberg, L., Vege, Å. & Brandtzaeg, P. Development of intestinal mucosal immunity in fetal life and the first postnatal months. *Pediatric research* 32, 145 (1992).
- 100. Bunker, J.J., *et al.* Innate and adaptive humoral responses coat distinct commensal bacteria with immunoglobulin A. *Immunity* **43**, 541-553 (2015).
- 101. Yee, W.H., *et al.* Incidence and timing of presentation of necrotizing enterocolitis in preterm infants. *Pediatrics* **129**, e298-e304 (2012).
- 102. Winter, S.E., *et al.* Host-derived nitrate boosts growth of E. coli in the inflamed gut. *science* **339**, 708-711 (2013).
- 103. Vandeputte, D., *et al.* Quantitative microbiome profiling links gut community variation to microbial load. *Nature* **551**, 507-511 (2017).

- 104. Barlow, B., *et al.* An experimental study of acute neonatal enterocolitis—the importance of breast milk. *Journal of pediatric surgery* **9**, 587-595 (1974).
- 105. Jilling, T., *et al.* The roles of bacteria and TLR4 in rat and murine models of necrotizing enterocolitis. *The Journal of Immunology* **177**, 3273-3282 (2006).
- 106. Zeng, M.Y., *et al.* Gut microbiota-induced immunoglobulin G controls systemic infection by symbiotic bacteria and pathogens. *Immunity* **44**, 647-658 (2016).
- 107. Koch, M.A., *et al.* Maternal IgG and IgA antibodies dampen mucosal T helper cell responses in early life. *Cell* **165**, 827-841 (2016).
- 108. Rogier, E.W., *et al.* Secretory antibodies in breast milk promote long-term intestinal homeostasis by regulating the gut microbiota and host gene expression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **111**, 3074-3079 (2014).
- 109. Harris, N.L., *et al.* Mechanisms of neonatal mucosal antibody protection. *J Immunol* **177**, 6256-6262 (2006).
- 110. Gauger, E.J., *et al.* Role of motility and the flhDC Operon in Escherichia coli MG1655 colonization of the mouse intestine. *Infect Immun* **75**, 3315-3324 (2007).
- 111. Giraud, A., *et al.* Dissecting the genetic components of adaptation of Escherichia coli to the mouse gut. *PLoS Genet* **4**, e2 (2008).
- 112. Leatham, M.P., *et al.* Mouse intestine selects nonmotile flhDC mutants of Escherichia coli MG1655 with increased colonizing ability and better utilization of carbon sources. *Infect Immun* **73**, 8039-8049 (2005).
- 113. Morowitz, M.J., *et al.* Strain-resolved community genomic analysis of gut microbial colonization in a premature infant. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **108**, 1128-1133 (2011).
- 114. Kawamoto, S., *et al.* Foxp3(+) T cells regulate immunoglobulin a selection and facilitate diversification of bacterial species responsible for immune homeostasis. *Immunity* **41**, 152-165 (2014).
- 115. Byndloss, M.X., *et al.* Microbiota-activated PPAR-gamma signaling inhibits dysbiotic Enterobacteriaceae expansion. *Science* **357**, 570-575 (2017).
- 116. Koren, O., *et al.* Host remodeling of the gut microbiome and metabolic changes during pregnancy. *Cell* **150**, 470-480 (2012).
- 117. Bunker, J.J., *et al.* Natural polyreactive IgA antibodies coat the intestinal microbiota. *Science* **358**, eaan6619 (2017).

- 118. Quan, C.P., Berneman, A., Pires, R., Avrameas, S. & Bouvet, J.P. Natural polyreactive secretory immunoglobulin A autoantibodies as a possible barrier to infection in humans. *Infect Immun* **65**, 3997-4004 (1997).
- 119. Suzuki, K., Maruya, M., Kawamoto, S. & Fagarasan, S. Roles of B-1 and B-2 cells in innate and acquired IgA-mediated immunity. *Immunological reviews* **237**, 180-190 (2010).
- 120. Benckert, J., *et al.* The majority of intestinal IgA+ and IgG+ plasmablasts in the human gut are antigen-specific. *J Clin Invest* **121**, 1946-1955 (2011).
- 121. Eibl, M.M., Wolf, H.M., Fürnkranz, H. & Rosenkranz, A. Prevention of necrotizing enterocolitis in low-birth-weight infants by IgA–IgG feeding. *New England Journal of Medicine* **319**, 1-7 (1988).
- 122. Foster, J.P., Seth, R. & Cole, M.J. Oral immunoglobulin for preventing necrotizing enterocolitis in preterm and low birth weight neonates. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 4, CD001816 (2016).
- 123. Moor, K., *et al.* Analysis of bacterial-surface-specific antibodies in body fluids using bacterial flow cytometry. **11**, 1531 (2016).
- 124. Babicki, S., et al. Heatmapper: web-enabled heat mapping for all. 44, W147-W153 (2016).
- 125. Morowitz, M.J., *et al.* Strain-resolved community genomic analysis of gut microbial colonization in a premature infant. **108**, 1128-1133 (2011).